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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, in relation to the matter you

         2       raised on Thursday, I can indicate that I expect the public

         3       hearings to continue throughout March.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Thank you, sir.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Might we have Mr Brendan Stewart, please.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   While Mr Stewart comes to the witness box,

        10       insofar as it is necessary, I seek authorisation, together

        11       with Mr Corbett, to appear on his behalf.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That leave is granted on the

        14       usual terms.

        15

        16       <BRENDAN JAMES STEWART sworn:                [10.17am]

        17

        18       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, might we have your full name,

        21       please?

        22       A.   Brendan James Stewart.

        23

        24       Q.   You appear today in answer to a notice requiring your

        25       appearance?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   On Thursday of last week the inquiry received a

        29       document entitled "Statement of Brendan James Stewart" and

        30       marked "Draft".  I will tender that.  It is barcoded

        31       WST.0019.0002 through to 0045.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   We object to that, sir.  The draft statement was

        34       provided to the Commission pursuant to an understanding on

        35       an entirely without prejudice basis to elicit any response

        36       from the Commission staff as to any other matter that they

        37       thought ought to go into it.  You will find that a

        38       statement has been delivered this morning with some minor

        39       alterations.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   I didn't understand this statement to be on a

        42       without prejudice basis.  This is the statement upon which

        43       we were operating until 9.30 this morning.  That is when we

        44       received a final statement from my learned friend.  Why we

        45       didn't receive it beforehand, I don't know.  I press the

        46       tender.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   We press the objection, sir.  As late as Friday

         2       we were seeking some information from counsel assisting as

         3       to whether there were any matters which they sought to have

         4       included in the statement, and we were given to believe

         5       that they hadn't had an opportunity to consider it at that

         6       stage.  We made a few minor amendments over the weekend and

         7       delivered the final one in the absence of any material, and

         8       we do strongly object to --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are there any material differences?

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   There are some minor changes.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am not concerned with minor changes.

        15       I am concerned with material differences.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Sir, it is a matter of principle, that this was

        18       delivered on a without prejudice basis.  There was

        19       absolutely no ambiguity about that.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:  How can I resolve that?  I have two

        22       people telling me different things.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Well, it surprises me greatly, sir, that there

        25       is any ambiguity at all.  I am astonished.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, I don't believe I can resolve

        28       this issue.  You say it was delivered on a without

        29       prejudice basis, Mr Agius says he didn't understand that it

        30       was.  Now, there is obviously some misunderstanding.  I

        31       can't resolve which way that misunderstanding is to be

        32       determined.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   We understand, sir, that you are not there as an

        35       adjudicator between Mr Agius and ourselves.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I am not.  Would you two mind

        38       having a discussion and see if you can sort this out?

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   We would be pleased to have a discussion.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will adjourn for five minutes.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   I can deal with this by withdrawing the tender

        45       for the moment.  I will tender the statement that we

        46       received at 9.30 this morning.  I make no concession in

        47       that regard as to my learned friend's submission.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I haven't had an opportunity to read the

         5       statement this morning.

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   I might say, sir, that a marked-up copy was

         8       provided to indicate where the changes took place.  That

         9       was provided this morning.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the statement we received at

        12       9.30, together with a marked-up copy, neither of which is

        13       barcoded.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   In those circumstances, sir, I ask that the

        16       marked-up copy remain a confidential exhibit.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   I have no difficulty with that,

        19       Mr Commissioner.  At this stage I don't know what the

        20       differences are between the two.  Why we only received this

        21       at 9.30 this morning I have no idea.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall mark the statement of

        24       Brendan Stewart, which comprises 45 pages, the last portion

        25       of which is clause 189(g), as exhibit 497.

        26

        27       EXHIBIT #497 STATEMENT OF BRENDAN STEWART, COMPRISING 45

        28       PAGES, ENDING WITH CLAUSE 189(g) ON PAGE 45

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall mark a document which is a

        31       photocopy of a facsimile bearing the timeline 9.02am and

        32       6 March 2006 as confidential exhibit 165C.

        33

        34       EXHIBIT #165C PHOTOCOPY OF FACSIMILE COPY OF STATEMENT OF

        35       BRENDAN STEWART, BEARING TIMELINE 9.02AM

        36       AND DATED 6/3/2006

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, I see you have some documents

        39       with you.  Just so that we are both working from the same

        40       document, can you identify what you have?

        41       A.   I have the statement that was delivered to you this

        42       morning, which has been tendered, of mine and a blank note

        43       pad for notes.

        44

        45       Q.   The statement that you have, is that what you contend

        46       is the statement in its final form?

        47       A.   It is, sir, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Is that a statement of 189 paragraphs, ending with

         3       paragraph 189(g) on page 45?

         4       A.   Yes, it is.

         5

         6       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct to

         7       the best of your knowledge and belief?

         8       A.   To the best of my knowledge, yes, sir.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   I only have a copy of the marked-up

        11       document.  Do we have any copies of the final document?

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Copies are being made, Mr Commissioner.  We

        14       don't have any other copies.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, we have an additional copy here.

        17       I will hand up mine; it is unmarked.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, what was your first knowledge

        22       of any material that indicated that AWB may have acted in

        23       breach of sanctions?

        24       A.   I believe the first time I became aware of any

        25       accusation was in relation to a letter and press articles

        26       from the US Wheat Associates in June of 2003.  That was the

        27       accusation.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you see the accusations then?

        30       A.   As were reported in the press, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you see the AWB response by Mr Lindberg?

        33       A.   I don't believe I saw that response before it was

        34       sent.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you see it shortly after it was sent?

        37       A.   No, I don't believe I did see it for some time after

        38       that, but I can't recall exactly when that was.

        39

        40       Q.   If the response was sent in about the middle of 2003,

        41       I think on 12 June 2003, can you say whether it was within

        42       a month, a year or some longer time that you saw the

        43       response?

        44       A.   I suspect it was probably within a couple of months,

        45       but, again, I couldn't be sure of the exact time.  It may

        46       have been shortly after it was sent, but I can't recall

        47       that, sir.
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         1

         2       Q.   We have the response as exhibit 88.  If you would just

         3       accept from me that it is dated 12 June 2003.

         4       A.   I accept that.

         5

         6       Q.   Did AWB set up any form of internal inquiry as a

         7       result of the allegations that were made to which

         8       Mr Lindberg's letter was a response?

         9       A.   AWB did set up an investigation which was to be a

        10       legal review which later became known as Project Rose -

        11       I think it was in about June of 2003 - in response to those

        12       allegations of the US Wheat Associates.

        13

        14       Q.   So, as you understand it, that was the beginning of

        15       what became Project Rose?

        16       A.   Yes, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   As we understand it, Project Rose continues to run; is

        19       that right?

        20       A.   It does.

        21

        22       Q.   What was your next piece of information that suggested

        23       that AWB may have been in breach of sanctions?

        24       A.   I believe that came after the IIC investigators had

        25       interviewed witnesses at AWB, and there was a suggestion

        26       that came out of those interviews that there was some level

        27       of uncertainty as to the ownership of Alia, the transport

        28       company.

        29

        30       Q.   So it was just as to the uncertainty as to the

        31       ownership of Alia?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   May we take it Project Rose continued from about mid

        35       2003 and was still on foot during the course of those

        36       interviews?

        37       A.   Sorry, sir, let me correct that.  2003 - I think if we

        38       go to May 2004, there was a board briefing about Project

        39       Rose and the investigation thus far, and I think there was

        40       mention of Alia in that board briefing.

        41

        42       Q.   At that board briefing, were you given any information

        43       that led you to suspect that there was any prospect that

        44       AWB had been in breach of sanctions?

        45       A.   No, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   So we have the US letter from the US Wheat Associates;
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         1       we have a board briefing on Project Rose in May 2004.  Was

         2       that the first significant briefing on Project Rose?

         3       A.   It was.

         4

         5       Q.   Then we have the interviews in February 2005.  What

         6       was the next piece of information that you had that

         7       indicated that AWB may have been in breach of sanctions?

         8       A.   I believe that probably would have brought - that

         9       probably would have been in relation to the interviews that

        10       I spoke of earlier, in 2005.

        11

        12       Q.   So that's February of 2005?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   And then after that?

        16       A.   Oh, well, the process moved fairly quickly from then.

        17       It was out of those interviews that there was a suggestion

        18       that Alia may have had some ownership other than Jordanian,

        19       and then that started to become a question as to whether

        20       that really would constitute a breach of a sanction or not.

        21

        22       Q.   Was there any further piece of information that you

        23       obtained after the interviews of 2005 that suggested a

        24       breach of sanctions on the part of AWB?

        25       A.   Not that I can recall, sir, but if you would like to

        26       prompt my memory, I am happy to address it.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, we know from your statement that you were told

        29       at one time that Michael Long had forwarded faxes

        30       concerning Alia.

        31       A.   Oh, this was --

        32

        33       Q.   That was in October of 2005.

        34       A.   October of 2005, yes; that's correct.

        35

        36       Q.   Between February of 2005 and the briefing you received

        37       in relation to those faxes concerning Alia, can you recall

        38       receiving any other information or report suggesting that

        39       AWB might have been in breach of sanctions?

        40       A.   Well, it would have been the draft findings letter

        41       from the IIC that I think we received around about the end

        42       of September.

        43

        44       Q.   Does that mean that right up until the receipt of the

        45       draft findings letter from the Volcker Inquiry, you hadn't

        46       seen any AWB material, any email, any trip report, any

        47       memorandum, which gave rise to any suspicion that AWB had
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         1       been in breach of sanctions?

         2       A.   That's correct, sir.

         3

         4       Q.   Is it your evidence that not only had you not seen any

         5       such material, but that the board, in your expectation,

         6       also would not have seen such material?

         7       A.   Yes, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   We have a memorandum from Mr Lindberg of 6 May 2004.

        10       Could we bring up, please, AWB.0338.0050.  This memo

        11       attached a report from the ABC National Rural Radio which

        12       reported that KPMG had been appointed to investigate claims

        13       that AWB overpriced the wheat sold to the Iraqi grains

        14       board.  Mr Lindberg records in his memo:

        15

        16            Last year we commenced a detailed review of

        17            the facts surrounding AWB's Oil for Food

        18            Contracts with Iraq.  This has involved

        19            reviewing over 30,000 emails, many files

        20            and interviewing AWB management.  The

        21            process has been led by Chris Quennell,

        22            Trade & Transport lawyer with Blake Dawson

        23            Waldron, Melbourne.

        24            A report on the factual findings will be

        25            tabled with AWB management tomorrow and I

        26            will be in a position to brief you next

        27            week.

        28            We anticipated this inquiry over 12 months

        29            ago and put in place this process to

        30            establish the facts and to manage AWB's

        31            risk.  The inquiry has been rigorous and

        32            very detailed.  Although substantially

        33            complete, the inquiry will take a further

        34            few weeks to fully complete.

        35

        36       And then there is a reference to media contact.  The report

        37       to the board that's referred to where Mr Lindberg says "I

        38       will be in a position to brief you next week", was that the

        39       briefing that was given in May of 2004?

        40       A.   I believe that's the case, sir, yes.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Let me tender the document on the screen,

        43       AWB.0038.0050.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   With the annexure, or not?

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   I will tender with it the annexure, 0051.
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         1

         2       EXHIBIT #498 AWB LIMITED MEMORANDUM FROM ANDREW LINDBERG TO

         3       DIRECTORS, DATED 6/5/2005, BARCODED AWB.0338.0050,

         4       AND ANNEXURE

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.6068.0329.

         7       These are minutes of a board meeting of AWBI Limited on

         8       25 May 2004.  If we go to 0330, under the heading "Project

         9       Rose":

        10

        11            The Board noted that a joint information

        12            session on Project Rose (briefing on Iraq

        13            wheat contracts) - to be attended by

        14            directors of both AWB (International)

        15            limited and AWB Limited - would be held on

        16            Tuesday 25 May 2004.

        17            The Board noted in advance of the

        18            briefing...

        19

        20       And there are three dot points set out.  In particular it

        21       recorded:

        22

        23            that the findings of Project Rose to date

        24            were as follows:

        25

        26            All AWB contracts were approved by the

        27            Office of the Iraq Program at the United

        28            Nations.

        29            No evidence has been identified of any AWB

        30            knowledge that money paid to the Jordanian

        31            transport firm, Alia, was onpaid to the

        32            Iraq regime;

        33            No evidence has been identified of payment

        34            of funds by AWB to any other person in

        35            relation to OFF shipments; and

        36            No evidence has been identified of payment

        37            of funds to any AWB employee by any other

        38            person in relation to OFF shipments.

        39

        40       Let me come to the board minutes of AWB Limited of 26 May

        41       2004, which is confidential exhibit 58C.  If we go to

        42       AWB.0157.0417, and if we go to 0419, in relation to Project

        43       Rose we see:

        44

        45            The Board noted that a joint information

        46            session on Project Rose (briefing on Iraq

        47            wheat contracts) - attended by directors of
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         1            bodies AWB Limited and AWB (International)

         2            Limited - had been held on Tuesday 25 May

         3            2004:  the Board noted that this matter

         4            would be further discussed at agenda item

         5            5.  Key Issues.

         6

         7       Then if we go to 0422, under paragraph 5, "Key Issues":

         8

         9            The Board noted it had received a briefing

        10            on Project Rose (attended also by directors

        11            of AWB (International Limited) on Tuesday

        12            25 May 2004 and had also received a

        13            memorandum on this matter from the Managing

        14            Director on 6 May 2004.  Project Rose is

        15            the code-name for the AWB Group's internal

        16            investigation of AWB's wheat exports to

        17            Iraq and AWB's involvement in the United

        18            Nations Oil for Food Program (OFF) in

        19            regard to which allegations of impropriety

        20            had been made in the public arena.

        21

        22       It goes on to talk about the briefing session that had been

        23       addressed by Mr Cooper and Mr Quennell, and that a copy of

        24       the briefing presentation would be filed with the board

        25       papers.  Can I ask you about that copy:  is there a claim

        26       for legal professional privilege over that presentation?

        27       A.   I believe there is, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   Then the board minutes note, as we can read in (a),

        30       (b) and (c) - and I won't read them, but I just invite you

        31       to spend a moment reading them again --

        32       A.   Mmm-hmm.  Can we scroll down to the next page.  Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   You will see that at the bottom, in subparagraph (c),

        35       the four points that are referred to in the AWBI minutes of

        36       board meeting are repeated.  This was May 2004.  So do we

        37       understand this position, that as at May 2004, although

        38       Project Rose had reviewed over 30,000 emails, many files,

        39       and had interviewed AWB management, there was still no

        40       evidence uncovered which suggested that AWB had acted in

        41       breach of UN sanctions?

        42       A.   I believe the minutes accurately reflect what the

        43       board was told at the time, sir, and the board was being

        44       reassured that that was the case.

        45

        46       Q.   Why then, Mr Stewart, are you pressing the claim for

        47       legal professional privilege?
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         1       A.   Well, the --

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   I object, sir.  If this is the occasion we get

         4       into this issue, I have to foreshadow that we will be

         5       objecting each time on any occasion the witness is asked as

         6       to why the claim is being pressed for legal professional

         7       privilege.  In our submission, such question, such inquiry,

         8       is beyond the power of this Commission.  It affronts the

         9       concept of legal professional privilege.  It is not a

        10       matter that this Commission is entitled, in our submission,

        11       to inquire into.  If it is proposed that this question or

        12       this line of questioning be pressed, then it will be

        13       necessary for us, sir, to have the matter agitated in

        14       another place.  We regard this matter very seriously.  In

        15       our submission, this Commission just does not have the

        16       power to inquire into that matter.  It is beyond power and

        17       inappropriate.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, beyond power and inappropriate

        20       are two quite different concepts.  What is the power point?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   The power, sir, goes this way.  I think you

        23       accept, sir, there is no inference that can be drawn one

        24       way or the other because of the claim being made.  The

        25       claim can be made as a matter of right by an individual,

        26       and it is entirely contrary, it offends the policy of the

        27       right which the individual or the corporation has in making

        28       the claim, to then go and inquire beyond it.

        29

        30            If, for example, it were raised in a court of law,

        31       once the claim is made, it is not appropriate.  In our

        32       submission it offends the policy for the court of law to

        33       inquire into why the individual or the company is making

        34       the claim.  In this case --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there an authority on that point?

        37       I accept the principle of the legal professional privilege.

        38       Is there authority on the point about whether a court can

        39       inquire into why the claim is being taken?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Sir, it follows, in our submission, as a matter

        42       of course.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   I know your argument, but is there

        45       authority on it?  I understand Maurice, I understand the

        46       basic principles.  The very narrow question I am asking you

        47       is is there authority which says a court cannot ask a
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         1       witness who is claiming legal professional privilege why he

         2       is making that claim - why he is taking that claim?

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   In our submission, it follows as a matter of

         5       course from the fact that the court cannot draw an

         6       inference one way or the other.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand the argument you put, you

         9       have put it before.  I am simply asking you is there

        10       authority.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   Sir, we have not been able to identify any

        13       occasion when somebody has sought to inquire into the

        14       reason why legal professional privilege is claimed.  In our

        15       submission, in a case such as this, if the witness were,

        16       for example, to refuse to answer the question and the issue

        17       were to arise as to whether or not the witness could be

        18       compelled, whether there was a reasonable excuse for the

        19       witness to refuse to answer, in our submission it could be

        20       responded to on two bases:  one is that it was reasonable

        21       to refuse; secondly, this Commission does not have the

        22       power.  It is really because the course of inquiry that the

        23       Commission is embarking upon is one which tends by the back

        24       door to contradict the claim by seeking to undermine it.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's where I am having the

        27       difficulty.  I am not sure it does.  To ask a person why

        28       they have the claim is quite different to asking them the

        29       substance of what would be disclosed if the claim was not

        30       taken.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   To ask why, sir, challenges the basis for it.

        33       It seeks to inquire of a witness why the witness or the

        34       corporation asserts a right that the law protects in regard

        35       to a substantial right in the administration of justice.

        36       It is the inquiry itself which offends the principle and

        37       tends to undermine the notion and the significance of legal

        38       professional privilege.

        39

        40            It is a short step from that to seek to then, as in

        41       this case, particularly with a corporation, for example,

        42       inquire, well, we all understand that boards make decisions

        43       in the interests of the corporation as a whole:  why did

        44       you make this decision?  What were your reasons.  Of course

        45       it may differ from director to director, and that, sir, is

        46       a short step from the question that's being asked.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's an entirely different position.

         2       Here we have the chairman of the board.  You have told me

         3       that he, and I now know from his statement the whole of the

         4       board, have decided to take the point.  So be it and they

         5       will get whatever protection that gives them in relation to

         6       any inferences that I may draw or may not draw.  But the

         7       point I am raising with you seems to me to be a different

         8       one, and that is can one inquire why the claim is taken?

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   In our submission, it would be offensive to the

        11       principle to inquire why.  We say that follows from the

        12       nature of the right.  We have not found an authority on

        13       that point, and that, sir, is completely understandable,

        14       because in our submission - and, indeed, in our limited

        15       experience - we have not encountered a question of that

        16       sort being asked before, at least not agitated in another

        17       place so that one has a decided case on it.

        18

        19            But this is not a commission of inquiry where the

        20       right is abrogated.  In our submission, the question ought

        21       not be asked and to do so, we say, is beyond the power of

        22       this inquiry, beyond the terms of reference, and we object

        23       most strongly.  If the Commission persists in this course,

        24       we would ask for an opportunity, which need not

        25       unnecessarily disrupt the Commission's inquiry, to have it

        26       tested.  My friend can go on and, if necessary, if we are

        27       wrong, the witness can come back and respond to my friend's

        28       question, as he would hope.  That's the position we take,

        29       and we would ask that that line not be pursued.  If the

        30       Commission is minded that it should be, then we can take

        31       the matter up and have it resolved.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, what do you say?

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   My question was directed to no more than to not

        36       go behind the claim for LPP but simply to find out why it

        37       was being taken in circumstances where, if AWB wishes this

        38       witness's evidence to be accepted, the disclosure of that

        39       material could only corroborate the position that is taken

        40       by the AWB board.  But, in the circumstances, I won't press

        41       the question and I will deal with it in another way.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, do we correctly understand

        46       your position, as chairman of the AWB board, to be that you

        47       want to assist this inquiry as much as you can?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   And do we understand that your position is that you

         4       want to assist this inquiry to find out what facts it can

         5       about who knew what at AWB?

         6       A.   Who knew what at AWB; is that the question?

         7

         8       Q.   Yes.

         9       A.   Yes, we have an interest, as does the Commission, in

        10       knowing who knew what.

        11

        12       Q.   And you want this inquiry to have cooperation from AWB

        13       employees?

        14       A.   That's correct.

        15

        16       Q.   You want them to cooperate fully?

        17       A.   To the maximum extent that is possible to them, but

        18       within the protection that's afforded to them by the laws.

        19

        20       Q.   So do we get to this situation, that you will tell

        21       this inquiry everything you know and everything that it is

        22       within your power to find out as chairman of the board,

        23       except that which you are not obliged to tell us?

        24       A.   That's correct.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you regard that as full cooperation?

        27       A.   I do regard that as full cooperation.  The law

        28       provides for a protection of certain information.  We are

        29       making that claim and we are standing by it.

        30

        31       Q.   Can I suggest to you that that is a long way short of

        32       full cooperation, Mr Stewart, and that it really is no

        33       more --

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   I object to the question.  It is an assertion

        36       which again contradicts the significance of legal

        37       professional privilege.  We had, in anticipation of this,

        38       drawn together some of the authorities which we propose to

        39       hand up to the Commission at an appropriate time, and we

        40       will do that this morning at some time.  But there is one

        41       decision of Carter v Northmore which I think bears upon the

        42       question that my friend wants to press.  If I can just read

        43       a passage which is in the case, Carter v Northmore Hale

        44       Davy & Leake (1995) 183 CLR 121 at page 161.  McHugh J says

        45       this:

        46

        47            By protecting the confidentiality of
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         1            communications between lawyer and client,

         2            the doctrine protects the rights and

         3            privacy of persons including corporations

         4            by ensuring unreserved freedom of

         5            communication with professional lawyers who

         6            can advise them of their rights under the

         7            law and, where necessary, take action on

         8            their behalf to defend or enforce those

         9            rights.  The doctrine is a natural, if not

        10            necessary, corollary of the rule of law and

        11            a potent force for ensuring that the equal

        12            protection of the law is a reality.

        13

        14            This Court has accepted that, although the

        15            doctrine is based on the requirements of

        16            the public interest, its application in

        17            particular cases does not depend upon

        18            balancing it against other rights that are

        19            grounded in the public interest.  Not even

        20            the public interest in courts having all

        21            relevant evidence before them has been

        22            considered sufficient to override the

        23            public interest in maintaining the

        24            unqualified operation of the privilege.

        25

        26       And then there is a reference to a passage of Deane J in

        27       Attorney-General v Maurice to this effect, and it is only a

        28       short passage:

        29

        30            Its efficacy as a bulwark against tyranny

        31            and oppression depends upon the confidence

        32            of the community that it will in fact be

        33            enforced.  That being so, it is not to be

        34            sacrificed even to promote the search for

        35            justice or truth in the individual case or

        36            matter and extends to protect the citizen

        37            from compulsory disclosure of protected

        38            communications or materials to any court or

        39            to any tribunal or person with authority to

        40            require the giving of information or the

        41            production of documents or other material.

        42

        43       Now, sir, in those circumstances, it is our submission that

        44       to suggest to the witness to even seek an answer from him

        45       that the claim of privilege equals a failure to cooperate,

        46       in our submission, is objectionable.  It is a question that

        47       is flawed at its very foundation and is inconsistent with
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         1       the notion that McHugh and Deane JJ articulate in those two

         2       authorities.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will reject the question,

         5       Mr Agius.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  Mr Commissioner, our concern here

         8       is one of AWB wanting to have its cake and eat it too.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   I can well understand that.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   It is prepared to disclose so much of what it

        13       says was the outcome of Project Rose to say, "Oh, we didn't

        14       find any information to suggest that AWB had been breaching

        15       sanctions".  On the other hand, it is not prepared to

        16       disclose that material which it did have so that that

        17       assertion can be tested.

        18

        19            My questions are really designed to ensure fairness,

        20       because, in the absence of the production of that

        21       material - we don't complain about the absence of that

        22       production, but in the absence of the production of that

        23       material - there is open, in my respectful submission, a

        24       submission, which I'm not making at this time, it is not

        25       the appropriate time to make submissions, that, if the

        26       material was provided, it would not corroborate the

        27       evidence given by this witness and by others in this

        28       inquiry, not because of the claim of legal professional

        29       privilege but because of the absence of any material which

        30       is produced before the inquiry to corroborate the claim.

        31       It is for that reason that I was pressing arguments as to

        32       why the claim was being made.

        33

        34            But I can appreciate that AWB does not want to answer

        35       those questions, so I won't press the question that I have

        36       asked.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   I am grateful for that, sir, but that's the very

        39       reason why courts consistently enunciate the proposition

        40       that no inference can be drawn so that the very proposition

        41       my friend articulates can't and shouldn't be made.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   But is that really so?  What you just

        44       said is correct in one respect, but if you just leave out

        45       entirely the claim for legal professional privilege, put it

        46       out of our minds altogether, I will be left with a number

        47       of facts which are established, and from that I would be
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         1       entitled, I think, to draw inferences, nothing to do with

         2       the claim for privilege to Project Rose, and the inferences

         3       that come from that may or may not be adverse to people.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   In those circumstances, having made the claim,

         6       if those inferences are drawn and can be appropriately

         7       drawn, we will have to suffer the inferences.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   As long as that is fully understood.

        10       Yes.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I don't want to leave you out of this,

        13       Mr Stewart, because you are the most important man here

        14       today.

        15       A.   I think the Commissioner might be the most important

        16       man, Mr Agius.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no, I doubt that.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, you see, if we go back to

        21       exhibit 498 - AWB.0338.0050 - I don't know why we can't

        22       find that on the system, but we will get that fixed.  It

        23       seems that those responsible to report to you had reviewed

        24       over 30,000 emails, many files, and had interviewed AWB

        25       management.  May we take it that those 30,000 emails

        26       concerned AWB's relationship with Iraq and these contracts?

        27       A.   I think that would be a fair assumption, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   And that the many files that were reviewed were files

        30       that related to AWB's relationship with Iraq and the

        31       contracts which were in question?

        32       A.   I think that would be partially correct.  I think - to

        33       understand the context of Project Rose, Project Rose

        34       originally started off, I believe, as looking at the

        35       investigations or the allegations by the US Wheat

        36       Associates that there was - against individuals, if you

        37       like, that there was incorrect or inappropriate behaviour

        38       amongst individuals and essentially bribes may have been

        39       paid.  So it started off looking at the actions of

        40       individuals.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Stewart, before you go on, if my

        43       recollection serves me correctly, when Mr Cooper was in the

        44       witness box legal professional privilege was claimed so

        45       that we were not entitled to know what the scope of Project

        46       Rose was, let alone what it did or let alone what it found.

        47       That's the effect of your claim for legal professional
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         1       privilege.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Sir, can I answer that?  That was specifically

         4       carved out.  I think one of the points I made during the

         5       submissions during Mr Cooper's argument was that he could

         6       be asked questions about the scope of the investigation -

         7       indeed, he was asked questions about the scope.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   So we can go as far as scope?

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   He was asked, for example, whether it involved

        12       an investigation into Tigris, and the like, from my

        13       recollection.  So he was certainly asked questions about

        14       the scope of the investigation.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Your recollection, I have no doubt, is

        17       better than mine, Mr Judd.  As long as you are content that

        18       this witness can be asked about the scope of the inquiry.

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   Yes, as was Mr Lindberg.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Thank you.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In that regard, I wonder if you could look

        25       at an email, which is exhibit 9 - AWB.5035.0337.  This is

        26       an email from Mr Hogan to Messrs Emons, Borlase and Owen,

        27       on 12 October 1999, in which Mr Hogan begins by setting out

        28       his brilliant idea as to how to settle the US$12 free in

        29       truck payment to the transport companies.  He sets out his

        30       idea in the first paragraph.  He goes on:

        31

        32            ...Zuhair advised that the President has

        33            issued to all ministers bringing product

        34            into Iraq that suppliers must pay the

        35            USD12.00 before ship arrive so that

        36            unloading could proceed.  If the USD12.00

        37            was not in place then the vessel would not

        38            be unloaded.

        39

        40       Further down he says:

        41

        42            The system that will be most workable would

        43            be that AWB create an account in Jordan and

        44            transfer funds to this account.  From this

        45            account, we would transfer to a special

        46            account (nominated by IGB) for each vessel.

        47            (We could probably by pass the Account in
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         1            Jordan and transfer directly to the

         2            "special" nominated account - as long as

         3            the link was not apparent that the funds

         4            were going into Irq.

         5            I will let you and Graham have a think abt

         6            it and wait for Zuhairs decision from the

         7            Minister.

         8            (other option is to use Maritime

         9            agents/vessel owners account/or buy a very

        10            large suitcase).

        11

        12       Mr Cooper says at page 3319, line 26, that he believed he

        13       would have seen that email some time in May 2004 or

        14       thereafter as part of the legal review.  Now, is that an

        15       email that you would have expected would have been caught

        16       by the legal review?

        17       A.   Yes, it is.

        18

        19       Q.   And if that email had been caught by the legal review,

        20       would you not have expected those conducting the review to

        21       have interviewed Mr Hogan?

        22       A.   I'm not sure who was interviewed in terms of the

        23       process that the project team undertook.

        24

        25       Q.   And I don't think you are allowed to tell us.

        26       A.   But I would expect that Mr Hogan, if he made himself

        27       available, would be interviewed, but I understand he was no

        28       longer an employee.

        29

        30       Q.   Would you not have expected there to be some attempt

        31       to interview him when this email was located in May of

        32       2004?

        33       A.   Yes, I would.

        34

        35       Q.   Would you not have expected that there would have been

        36       some attempt to interview Mr Emons, Mr Borlase and Mr Owen

        37       when this email was found in May of 2004?

        38       A.   I would.

        39

        40       Q.   Does your claim for legal professional privilege

        41       permit us to know whether or not they were interviewed?

        42       A.   I don't know that I can answer that question.

        43

        44       Q.   You don't know the scope of your claim for legal

        45       professional privilege?

        46       A.   Well, I believe that --

        47
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         1       Q.   I don't want you to tell us the answer to my first

         2       question, but I am really asking about the LPP claim that's

         3       been made, the legal professional privilege claim that's

         4       been made by you and the board for AWB.  Do you know

         5       whether the scope of that claim is such that you can or

         6       cannot tell us whether or not any approaches were made to

         7       Messrs Hogan, Emons, Borlase and Owen in May of 2004 or

         8       thereafter?

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   We press the claim in relation to that

        11       information insofar as the witness may even be able to

        12       answer it.  We press the claim.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper says that he believed he would

        15       have seen it some time in May of 2004 or thereafter as part

        16       of the legal review.  We know that in late May of 2004 the

        17       joint boards - I should say the boards sitting together for

        18       the purpose of receiving a report - received a report in

        19       relation to Project Rose.  Did any part of that review -

        20       and this may be the subject of your claim, and if it is

        21       don't answer the question - reveal the existence of this

        22       email?

        23       A.   No.

        24

        25       Q.   Do you find that somewhat surprising now?

        26       A.   I do.  I find it regrettable and I find it upsetting.

        27

        28       Q.   Would you not have expected those conducting the

        29       review, if they had found this email in May of 2004, to

        30       have looked at other emails involving either the sender or

        31       the recipient of this email?

        32       A.   I would expect that this review had have picked up

        33       this email and any others, and had the review been done

        34       thoroughly and competently, it should have picked up these

        35       types of emails and tried to have the contents of it

        36       explained.

        37

        38       Q.   Given that we know that Mr Cooper was involved in this

        39       review, that two eminent law firms were involved in this

        40       review, and that the review had been running for a year up

        41       until May of 2004, or just about a year, ought we not

        42       reasonably infer that this email and the related ones were

        43       in fact located by the review?

        44       A.   I can't answer that question, sir.  I don't have that

        45       knowledge.

        46

        47       Q.   How much did this review cost AWB up until May of
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         1       2004?

         2       A.   I couldn't answer that question either, sir.

         3

         4       Q.   In the vicinity of millions of dollars?

         5       A.   I simply don't know.  I don't have a final figure in

         6       terms of what the costs of that were at that particular

         7       stage.

         8

         9       Q.   No idea?

        10       A.   No idea.

        11

        12       Q.   Many hundreds of thousands of dollars?

        13       A.   I would expect so.  You don't engage top-tier law

        14       firms for anything less than that over a long period of

        15       time.

        16

        17       Q.   Can we go to AWB.5073.0125.  This is Mr Hogan's first

        18       report following his trip to Baghdad in June of 1999, which

        19       led to the very first contracts with which this inquiry is

        20       concerned, which involved a payment of some kind.  At

        21       page 5073.0126, under the heading "Tree in Truck", Mr Hogan

        22       reported to, let me see, 12 people at AWB the following:

        23

        24            IGB have requested that the offers are

        25            submitted CIF, free in truck, Iraq.  The

        26            cost for this is USD12.00 per tonne which

        27            the supplier adds to their offer.

        28            Hence this part is not an issue.

        29            The problem which still needs to be

        30            resolved is the payment mechanism as all

        31            Iraq accounts have been frozen.  IGB have

        32            stated that we will be required to pay the

        33            Maritime Agents, and one possible way would

        34            be to pay this to an Iraq bank in Amman.

        35            IGB will provide details of the banks which

        36            we can pay this through.

        37            Michael - as mentioned to you, there may be

        38            a way to pay this through the vessel

        39            owners.  Mark will discuss this you, so

        40            have a think about the possibilities.

        41            Reason for wanting suppliers to pay this

        42            amount is due to the excessive amount of

        43            Iraqi Dinars placed into the market by

        44            Ministry of Finance for every Phase.

        45

        46       Now, were you given a briefing in relation to this report

        47       as part of the May 2004 briefing from Project Rose?
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   That's objectionable, sir, on the same basis -

         3       it traverses privilege.  My friend can ask him whether he

         4       has seen it before, he can ask him about the document --

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Yes, thank you.  I won't press it.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you see this report?  Obviously you have seen it

         9       before I read it to you today.  When did you first see it?

        10       A.   I hadn't seen this until this inquiry commenced.

        11

        12       Q.   In what circumstances?

        13       A.   Sorry, I believe --

        14

        15       Q.   In what circumstances did you first see it?

        16       A.   As a result of the evidence that has been produced and

        17       the documents being tendered as evidence.

        18

        19       Q.   So not since it was produced as an exhibit or as a

        20       document about which people were asked questions in this

        21       inquiry?

        22       A.   Well, it was given to me by counsel in - I believe

        23       in December or - no, sorry, this one was after the inquiry

        24       started, in preparation for my evidence here today.

        25

        26       Q.   When you say "after the inquiry started", after the

        27       public evidence?

        28       A.   After the public hearings started.  Sir, I wouldn't

        29       normally see these documents.  These are operational

        30       documents and as chairman of the company we just don't get

        31       into those operational details.

        32

        33       Q.   I appreciate that, Mr Stewart.  Your name isn't

        34       included amongst the list of recipients?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   I am not suggesting that in June 1999, even before you

        38       were appointed --

        39       A.   A board member, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   -- you would have received this email then, but what

        42       we do know, and what we are asked to accept, is that there

        43       was a comprehensive review undertaken which was all but

        44       complete in May of 2004, and that the board was briefed in

        45       relation to certain matters in May of 2004.  My inquiry

        46       really is whether you had seen this as a part of that

        47       briefing, and I understand you can't answer that question
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         1       because of the claim that has been made, but whether you

         2       had seen this document otherwise.  I think you have

         3       answered that.

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Is this a document that you would have expected the

         7       far-reaching inquiry that we read about in Mr Lindberg's

         8       memo to have uncovered?

         9       A.   I would have expected any internal document that had

        10       been looked at during that process to have - that had

        11       issues like this in it, to have been brought to the

        12       attention at the very least of the project committee, and

        13       potentially to the board.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Were any of the following people

        16       on the Project Rose committee - let me read them to you:

        17       Mark Emons - he wasn't, he had left?

        18       A.   He had left.

        19

        20       Q.   Adrian Hunter?

        21       A.   He had left.

        22

        23       Q.   Nigel Officer?

        24       A.   He had left.

        25

        26       Q.   Peter Geary?

        27       A.   Peter is still an executive of the company.

        28

        29       Q.   Was he on the Project Rose committee?

        30       A.   I don't believe so.

        31

        32       Q.   Sarah Scales?

        33       A.   Sarah is still an officer of the company, an executive

        34       of the company.  I'm not quite sure whether she was on the

        35       Project Rose committee or not.

        36

        37       Q.   Stuart Richardson?

        38       A.   Stuart Richardson I believe is still an employee of

        39       the company in the trading area.  He wouldn't have been on

        40       the Project Rose committee.

        41

        42       Q.   Tim Snowball?

        43       A.   He certainly wouldn't have been on the project

        44       committee.

        45

        46       Q.   Peter Hart?

        47       A.   I don't know Mr Hart.
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         1

         2       Q.   Mitchell Morison?

         3       A.   Mitch wouldn't have been on the project committee.

         4

         5       Q.   Michael Watson?

         6       A.   He had left the company.

         7

         8       Q.   Rex Lister was deceased?

         9       A.   Rex Lister was deceased.

        10

        11       Q.   Graham Owen?

        12       A.   I don't know Mr Owen.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go to another exhibit, confidential

        15       exhibit 15, AWB.5073.0129, this is another email from

        16       Mr Hogan to 12 others, and if we go to 0130, under item 10,

        17       Mr Hogan has included under item 10 a comment made in

        18       another email by Mr Owen, who works in, and did work in,

        19       trade finance.  Mr Owen's comment was:

        20

        21            Our price has to include Land transport

        22            costs of USD12 per tonne.  Why???  and how

        23            do we pay Land Transport company when all

        24            Iraqi funds frozen???????

        25

        26       That was Mr Owen's comment and then Mr Hogan has added:

        27

        28            The USD12.00 will be added on to CFI

        29            price - so no skin off our nose - however

        30            we need to find a way to implement the

        31            payments as Iraq a/c's frozen.  Discretion

        32            is required here.

        33

        34       Again, this is an email that you would have expected

        35       Project Rose to have uncovered, is it not?

        36       A.   I would expect so.  I'm not sure - what was the date?

        37       Obviously it should have picked it up, I believe.

        38

        39       Q.   This is 25 June.  This is all part of the exchange of

        40       emails that occurred between June and November when,

        41       in November, a decision was finally made as to how the very

        42       first payment would be made.

        43       A.   Mmm.

        44

        45       Q.   As you may have followed through the evidence, there

        46       were a large number of exchanges of emails when this

        47       problem was being sorted through by various AWB personnel.
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         1       A.   Mmm.  Well, I believe it should have been picked up

         2       given the nature of the way its written there.  I'm not

         3       quite sure that it would have been picked up on the basis

         4       that the transport fee had to be paid, because I believe

         5       that was - I believe that that was a part of the UN

         6       approval process, but the actual part of the payment, the

         7       mechanism probably should have picked up that email.

         8

         9       Q.   The problem is that the contracts never ever disclosed

        10       the payment of a transport fee.  The first three contracts

        11       in July and the contract in October only ever spoke of

        12       discharge costs of up to US$12 a tonne.  Here the AWB

        13       personnel clearly understand that what they are really

        14       talking about is some kind of transport fee or land

        15       transport cost, and that the payments on the basis of this

        16       and other emails were clearly to be made to Iraq accounts.

        17       They couldn't be made directly because the Iraqi accounts

        18       were frozen.  So it is on that basis that I ask you whether

        19       or not you would have expected that this email ought to

        20       have been discovered as part of the wide-ranging review

        21       that was undertaken?

        22       A.   I believe it should have.

        23

        24       Q.   Could we go to confidential exhibit 17C,

        25       AWB.5056.0374.  This is Mr Emons to Messrs Officer, Watson,

        26       Lister and Owen, on 20 October 1999, subject "Private and

        27       Confidential:  Iraq trucking fee":

        28

        29            I had a lengthy discussion last night with

        30            Zuhair.  I needed to resolve quickly the

        31            amendments that we have requested with L/C

        32            and the payment of the trucking cost as per

        33            our contract back to the IGB.

        34            With payment of the trucking fee we are

        35            prevented of doing this direct to Iraq for

        36            obvious reasons.  Our contract which

        37            complies with the tender document details

        38            approved by the UN does not specify how

        39            this payment will be undertaken.  As a

        40            result of this we requested of Zuhair that

        41            he supply us with suitable bank details to

        42            facilitate this payment.

        43            We have always been aware from the outset

        44            that this issue is some what grey however

        45            I realised during my conversation with

        46            Zuhair that we need to be particularly

        47            careful on the execution of the contracts.



            .6/3/06 (40)               3958     B J STEWART (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            Zuhair stated that he will supply details

         2            of the company to be paid and the account

         3            details.  He also stated that the trucking

         4            fee may vary in the future.

         5            To remove any potential criticism

         6            potentially of AWB or longer term

         7            considerations relating to facilitation

         8            payments etc as previously discussed I have

         9            recommended that the Charter Party be

        10            amended to include the trucking fee and

        11            therefore the payment of this fee will be

        12            carried out by the shipping companies.

        13            I trust this action meets with your

        14            approval.

        15

        16       Now, again, is this an email that you would have expected

        17       the far-ranging inquiry to have located by May of 2004?

        18       A.   Mr Agius, the answer is yes.  I might be able to

        19       assist.  I mean, it is clear that you are wanting to

        20       present to me a whole range of emails that you believe

        21       should have been picked up in the inquiry.  I can say this

        22       in relation to any further ones:  obviously I haven't seen

        23       them, because I don't get into the operational level, but

        24       obviously any email that raised issues such as that,

        25       I would expect that that should have been picked up in that

        26       inquiry, in that investigation.

        27

        28       Q.   You see, if one were just using common sense without

        29       much IT background, and one had to search 30,000 emails

        30       over the course of a year, and you had them electronically,

        31       surely even if you put in the words "Iraq trucking fee" or

        32       "trucking fee" into your search engine, this is the kind of

        33       email that would have been thrown up.  Why ought we not to

        34       conclude that in fact it was thrown up as at May of 2004,

        35       and that either the board wasn't told about it or that the

        36       board was told about it and is using the claim of legal

        37       professional privilege to prevent disclosure of that fact?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   I object, sir.  My friend's question is

        40       predicated on the fact that the emails under consideration

        41       existed in a retrievable form at the time.  My friend knows

        42       that there is a great volume of materials - and I am not

        43       sure whether these particular ones fall into that category,

        44       but there are two categories that are important in this

        45       context to differentiate between.  One is the category of

        46       those emails that were accessible on the system in

        47       electronic form in hard copy; the other category is those
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         1       that had to be reconstituted from back-up tapes and the

         2       like, which was the process that was undertaken in December

         3       and January of this year, at huge cost and inconvenience,

         4       and it resulted in emails being recreated and provided to

         5       this Commission.

         6

         7            In our submission, they fall into quite a different

         8       category, and it may be that at some point it is very

         9       necessary to differentiate between them, because unless

        10       there is a reconstitution process undertaken at the time,

        11       then it wasn't a matter of simply putting a word search

        12       into the electronic version - one had to go through this

        13       recreation process.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   We know from Mr Cooper that the first

        16       in this chain that Mr Agius has put was known to him

        17       by September 2004.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   And it pre-dates this one.

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   I am not suggesting - because I don't know -

        24       that these particular emails may not have been retrievable

        25       or in hard copy.  That may well be so.  If that is so, then

        26       of course the comment, the foundation for the comment may

        27       be justified.  But insofar as they have to be recreated or

        28       in fact reconstituted, then it is very difficult, or it

        29       might be a little more difficult to contend that, simply by

        30       putting in a word search, one could find these particular

        31       emails.

        32

        33            The only point in the end that I make, sir, is that at

        34       some point it may be necessary to differentiate between the

        35       two categories if the kind of comment my friend makes is to

        36       be made good.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow the question.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Perhaps I should put it to you again,

        41       Mr Stewart.  It was:

        42

        43            You see, if one were just using common

        44            sense without much IT background, and one

        45            had to search 30,000 emails over the course

        46            of a year, and you had them electronically,

        47            surely even if you put in the words "Iraq
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         1            trucking fee" or "trucking fee" into your

         2            search engine, this is the kind of email

         3            that would have been thrown up.  Why ought

         4            we not to conclude that in fact it was

         5            thrown up as at May of 2004, and that

         6            either the board wasn't told about it or

         7            that the board was told about it and is

         8            using the claim of legal professional

         9            privilege to prevent disclosure of that

        10            fact?

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   I object to the second part of the question,

        13       sir.  First of all, the question is confusing, but this is

        14       a "When did you stop beating your wife" type of question.

        15       Any answer implies truth of some element of the question.

        16       The point that my friend wants to arrive at is to have this

        17       witness answer a question which, in the end, is going to be

        18       prejudicial whichever way the answer goes.  If he wants to

        19       break the question down and ask first of all whether it was

        20       reasonable that, having reviewed 30,000 emails, that emails

        21       of this kind were thrown up, that's one question that this

        22       witness may be able to speculate about and say, "Yes, well,

        23       it could have been".

        24

        25            But then to go on and seek to have this witness answer

        26       in response to a question about whether this meant that

        27       either the board was being led or that the claim for legal

        28       professional privilege is in some way masking the

        29       information of this kind that came to the board is entirely

        30       inappropriate.

        31

        32            Mr Agius knows full well that he can ask this

        33       witness - and, indeed, any board member - whether they have

        34       seen any of these emails before.  He is not doing that

        35       because he doesn't want to because the answer doesn't suit

        36       him.  If he asked the witness, "Have you seen the email

        37       before", the witness says yes or no, or whatever the case

        38       may be.  He does not want to ask the question in that

        39       direct way because the answer does not assist him in

        40       undermining the claim for legal professional privilege.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, have you seen the email

        43       before?

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, ought we not then to conclude that this email

        47       was deliberately kept from the board?
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         1       A.   I can't speculate about that, Mr Agius.  I had faith

         2       in the process that was set up, that engaged external

         3       advice.  I relied on that advice.  I relied on the process

         4       to actually bring these things to light.  I can't speculate

         5       on the question that you have put to me.

         6

         7       Q.   Are you surprised that this email wasn't brought to

         8       attention in May of 2004?

         9       A.   Yes, I am.

        10

        11       Q.   I take it you would have expected it to have been

        12       brought to attention?

        13       A.   I think I have already said, I expect any email or any

        14       correspondence that would have raised any suspicions or

        15       issues of impropriety or illegality or any other

        16       inappropriate behaviour to be brought to the notice of the

        17       board.

        18

        19       Q.   Mr Stewart, do you now suspect that there was some

        20       culture - and I don't use that word in any malevolent

        21       sense - afoot from May of 2004 that the bad news should be

        22       kept away from the board?

        23       A.   I think there is two potential inferences that spring

        24       to my mind, Mr Agius.  One is that the investigation didn't

        25       unearth some of the evidence that has now been presented to

        26       the inquiry, either because the questions weren't asked

        27       correctly or the information didn't make its way to the

        28       board because that information hadn't been discovered, was

        29       withheld.

        30

        31       Q.   So you reject a suggestion - and it is not my positive

        32       suggestion, but you reject the notion - that those working

        33       on Project Rose were operating under the belief that it

        34       would be better to keep the bad news to themselves and not

        35       disseminate it to the board?

        36       A.   No, I believe that those operating under Project Rose,

        37       whilst probably not in a direct instruction from the board,

        38       certainly understood that the board wanted to know if there

        39       was anything that essentially didn't look right.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stewart, the answer reads, as

        42       transcribed, "I think there is two potential inferences

        43       that spring to my mind, Mr Agius:  one is that the

        44       investigation didn't unearth some of the evidence that has

        45       now been presented to the inquiry, either because the

        46       questions weren't asked correctly or the information didn't

        47       make its way to the board because that information hadn't
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         1       been discovered, was withheld."  Is that what you intended

         2       to say?

         3       A.   No, it is having discovered the information, it may

         4       have been withheld.

         5

         6       Q.   I will have to make up my mind, perhaps, which of

         7       those two inferences I draw?

         8       A.   Certainly, sir.

         9

        10       Q.  That's if I were to accept your evidence that the board

        11       was not told.

        12       A.   That's certainly the case.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Have you caused any inquiry to be made as

        15       to which of the two possibilities you have enunciated might

        16       be the case?

        17       A.   I haven't caused any further inquiry now, because of

        18       the conduct of this inquiry, and I am certainly - and the

        19       board is certainly - keen to have the findings of your

        20       inquiry, Commissioner, and what we have said is we will

        21       take the appropriate action at the appropriate time.

        22

        23       Q.   The last email I want to take you to in this vein -

        24       and there are many, but I don't want to spend too much time

        25       on this - is confidential exhibit 27C, AWB.5057.0005.  It

        26       is from Mark Emons to Michael Watson, and it relates to the

        27       subject "Iraq trucking fee".  In the third paragraph:

        28

        29            On the trucking fee, I am still having some

        30            problems with him --

        31

        32       That's Mr Zuhair, the person with whom they were

        33       negotiating at the IGB:

        34

        35            He understands that we can't pay Iraq

        36            direct but he says he wants to tell me

        37            personally when I see him how it should all

        38            operate.  This all well and good but as

        39            I said to him we have a vessel arriving

        40            before we see him and the IGB will not

        41            discharge until the money is rec'ved.

        42            He then came back to me and said for the

        43            first vessel only that we should pay 90%...

        44

        45       And he sets out the details, and then he goes on to say:

        46

        47            I know this is a little too direct but he
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         1            assures me that it a one off --

         2

         3       and I think he meant to write that it is a one-off --

         4

         5            and that the full details will be supplied

         6            when we meet him of the company that will

         7            be handling this matter in the future.

         8            So if you can make if --

         9

        10       and I think that should be "it" --

        11

        12            you can make the payment as above rather

        13            than the shipping company immediately and

        14            we can sort the detail when in Iraq.

        15

        16       Is that an email that you have seen before?

        17       A.   I don't believe it is.

        18

        19       Q.   Again, I take it you would say that this is an email

        20       that you would have expected to have been caught by the

        21       wide-ranging inquiry that had been undertaken up to May of

        22       2004?

        23       A.   You would expect so.

        24

        25       Q.   Can I put something else into the equation there,

        26       Mr Stewart, on this question of whether or not this email

        27       might have come to notice:  as we understand it, the Arthur

        28       Andersen inquiry had taken place and there had been draft

        29       reports and, as we know now, a final report in December of

        30       2000 which had been sent to AWB under the cover of a letter

        31       in early 2001.  In part that report concerned the conduct

        32       of Mr Emons and Mr Watson, and it in part investigated what

        33       appeared to be perhaps examples of subterfuge that they had

        34       entered into - would you agree with that?

        35       A.   I have read the report in recent times, since the

        36       start of this inquiry, and I would agree that the contents

        37       of that report raised serious issues in relation to the

        38       conduct of certain individuals within the company.

        39

        40       Q.   So this email, then, is one that one might have

        41       expected to have been found during the course of the

        42       Project Rose inquiry?

        43       A.   You would expect so.

        44

        45       Q.   You agree with that?  And one might also have expected

        46       it to have come up for a different reason in the Arthur

        47       Andersen inquiry?
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         1       A.   I can't recall now what the attachments to the

         2       Andersen report are.  If it is there, then obviously I have

         3       probably read it before, but, as I said earlier, that would

         4       have been in January of this year.

         5

         6       Q.   I don't think it is there, but given that the Arthur

         7       Andersen report dealt with the conduct of these two

         8       persons, even if this email wasn't thrown up by the Arthur

         9       Andersen report, would you not have expected some further

        10       investigation to have been undertaken within AWB of the

        11       conduct of these two persons?

        12       A.   As a result of the Arthur Andersen report?

        13

        14       Q.   Yes.

        15       A.   Look, I can't speak to what the thought processes of

        16       the then CEO and the chairman at the time were.  All I can

        17       tell you is that, on reading the report, as I did

        18       in January of this year, had I read it at the time

        19       I certainly would have, as I say in my statement, taken

        20       advice as to find out whether I believe it would have been

        21       defamatory to actually circulate the report, and if that

        22       advice had given me the okay to circulate it, I would have

        23       circulated it to I think at the very least the audit

        24       committee, but probably the board.

        25

        26       Q.   Would you agree with me that this email seems to make

        27       plain that far from paying Alia For Transport and General

        28       Trade to undertake the transport of the wheat, the payment

        29       is being made through Alia For Transport and General Trade

        30       so as to avoid having to make a direct payment to the

        31       Iraqis?

        32       A.   That's what it appears to say.

        33

        34       Q.   So it is quite the opposite from a situation where

        35       Alia was being retained to genuinely transport the wheat.

        36       A.   Well, I am not sure you can draw the inference that

        37       Alia wasn't being retained to transport the wheat.  I mean,

        38       I certainly can't, because I was always told that Alia was

        39       a genuine trucking company providing genuine services.

        40

        41       Q.   But from this email can't you draw the inference -

        42       and, indeed, is it not the only inference that you can

        43       draw - that the selection of Alia was not because it was

        44       going to transport the wheat but because it was to be a

        45       one-off payment in view of the fact that a direct payment

        46       to Iraq could not be made?

        47       A.   I think, given the benefit of hindsight, that's what
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         1       it appears to be saying now.

         2

         3       Q.   It has been put forward as a facilitation agent,

         4       hasn't it, to effect the payment?

         5       A.   But, sir, I mean, as I said earlier, this is an

         6       operational email.  I can't speculate on what the author

         7       was saying at the time, but obviously, given the context

         8       and the situation we are in now, I believe this email

         9       should have been discovered in the Project Rose process,

        10       and it should have been brought to the attention of the

        11       board if in fact it was discovered during that process.

        12

        13       Q.   Albeit that there wasn't an inquiry with the powers of

        14       a royal commission on foot in May of 2004, but leaving that

        15       issue aside, the context was otherwise not much different

        16       to the context in which we see this email, was it:  there

        17       had been allegations concerning the use of a trucking fee;

        18       there had been allegations concerning inflated prices; and

        19       Alia had been mentioned.  So, in terms of facts that catch

        20       the eye, the context is not much different to the one that

        21       we face today; would you agree with that, Mr Stewart?

        22       A.   No, it is probably not, sir.  I think you are right.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time, Mr Commissioner?

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I will take a brief adjournment.

        27

        28       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, the passage I had in mind is

        31       found in the sixth edition of Cross at paragraph 25040.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   Thank you.  We think we have identified a

        34       relevant authority, and we will produce that to the

        35       Commission.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, Mr Cooper did give some

        40       evidence about exhibit 9, if we could bring it up,

        41       AWB.5035.0337.  I asked Mr Cooper about this at transcript

        42       3319:

        43

        44            Q.   When did you first see that email.

        45            A.   I believe I would have seen it some

        46            time in May 2004, or thereafter, as part of

        47            the legal review.
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         1            Q.   Rather than take you through a whole

         2            host of emails, Mr Cooper, would it be your

         3            evidence, if I showed you a series of

         4            emails in June, July and later in 1999,

         5            that Mr Quennell would, in your

         6            expectation, have had access to those

         7            emails.

         8            A.   Yes - yes, it would be.

         9

        10       So Mr Cooper's evidence would seem to be that the emails

        11       in June/July and later in 1999 were available to

        12       Mr Quennell:

        13

        14

        15            Q.   When you saw that email some time

        16            in May 2004 or thereafter, did you cause

        17            any inquiry to be made in relation to it?

        18            A.   The inquiry was already being made,

        19            the internal inquiry.

        20            Q.  What did you make of Mr Hogan's

        21            reference at the end of that email:

        22

        23       And then I quoted:

        24

        25            (other option is to use Maritime

        26            agents/vessel owners account/or buy a very

        27            large suitcase).

        28            A.   I didn't like it, I was disappointed,

        29            and it was specifically, as a result,

        30            included in materials that were reviewed by

        31            senior counsel.

        32            Q.   When you say you didn't like it, what

        33            didn't you like about it?

        34            A.   I didn't like the flippant tone of the

        35            last sentence, to buy a very large

        36            suitcase.

        37            Q.   What about looking beyond that - did

        38            it not indicate to you that there were at

        39            least four people within AWB in October of

        40            1999 discussing methods to circumvent the

        41            UN sanctions?

        42            A.   It - yes, it indicated a consideration

        43            of how to get around the UN sanctions.

        44

        45       Then I asked a question which was objected to, and then the

        46       objection was withdrawn.  Let me put to you what the

        47       transcript records so that you can follow the sense of
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         1       Mr Cooper's answer:

         2

         3            Q.   Did you advise Mr Lindberg in May 2004

         4            of the existence of this email and of its

         5            indication of a consideration of how to get

         6            around UN sanctions?

         7

         8       There was an objection about my use of the word "advise"

         9       and then the objection was withdrawn.  I asked:

        10

        11            Q.   Did you draw the existence of the

        12            email to Mr Lindberg's attention?

        13            A.   Both myself and Chris Quennell, as

        14            part of that review, went through the

        15            results of that review with Mr Lindberg.

        16

        17       And he confirmed that in the next answer, that he did,

        18       together with Mr Quennell:

        19

        20            Q.  Did you give Mr Lindberg a copy of it?

        21            A.   I don't believe he would have retained

        22            a copy, but I believe he was shown the

        23            email.

        24            Q.   Did you show him, in that connection,

        25            other emails from 1999.

        26            A.   There were - yes, there was a

        27            collection of documents that Chris Quennell

        28            had prepared, which he had used to brief

        29            senior counsel, and this was one of those

        30            documents.  They were explained - these

        31            documents were discussed internally.

        32            Q.   So there were other emails from 1999

        33            that were shown to Mr Lindberg some time in

        34            or after May of 2004.

        35            A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Now, the reason why I read all of that to you is to ask you

        38       a question about Mr Lindberg.  Did Mr Lindberg ever bring

        39       to your attention the content of exhibit 9 and any of the

        40       other emails that I have taken you to today?

        41       A.   No, he didn't, sir.

        42

        43       Q.   Did he ever bring to your attention the substance of

        44       them?

        45       A.   Mr Lindberg only made a general comment to me about

        46       the investigation thus far and that there had been very

        47       little found, in the sense of impropriety of individuals,
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         1       and he made reference to some emails which he said, "Look,

         2       there is a bit of 'Boys' Own' stuff", or words to that

         3       effect, in terms of the writings.  I obviously now, having

         4       seen that email, probably referred to probably the last

         5       page - the last line, sorry, about the suitcase.

         6

         7       Q.   When was it that Mr Lindberg said words to that effect

         8       to you?

         9       A.   I think it would have been probably around about the

        10       time of that May 2004 board meeting, or shortly after.

        11

        12       Q.   If we go back to exhibit 14C - AWB.5073.0125 - this is

        13       the email which records the list of names that the

        14       Commissioner asked you about before the morning tea

        15       adjournment.  Did Peter Geary or Mr Morison or Sarah Scales

        16       ever draw your attention to the substance of this email and

        17       in particular that portion on the next page under "Free in

        18       truck"?

        19       A.   No, sir, they did not.

        20

        21       Q.   Do you know whether they ever brought the existence of

        22       this email to anybody's attention?

        23       A.   No, I don't.

        24

        25       Q.   We have a number of documents from Alia about the

        26       payment of trucking fees.  I will bring up some of them,

        27       first exhibit 119, which is AWB.0002.0198.  This has a

        28       handwritten note on it "28/2/05 copy for interview with AL"

        29       and the initials - what look to be "RP".  It is a fax from

        30       Alia of 24/11/1999:

        31

        32            We have just received a Fax Message from

        33            the state Company for Water Transport in

        34            Basrah (Iraq) wherein they advise us that

        35            whereas the M.V. "Pretty Ruby" is due to

        36            arrive at the port of Um Qaser today, your

        37            remittance in respect of over-land

        38            transportation charges amounting to

        39            USD (504,000) has not been received yet.

        40

        41            As you are aware, the remittance in

        42            question should the received here Five days

        43            prior to vessel's arrival at Um Qaser.

        44            Therefore you are kindly requested to for

        45            our us urgently --

        46

        47       I suspect that should be "to forward us urgently" --
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         1

         2            with the Bank Transfer detail to enable us

         3            follow-up the matter with the appropriate

         4            Bank here and the Grain Board of Iraq,

         5            Baghdad, as well as aforesaid Company

         6            accordingly and remit the subject funds to

         7            them.

         8

         9            Your prompt attention in this matter will

        10            be highly appreciated.

        11

        12       Was the existence of that document brought to your

        13       attention by the end of May 2004?

        14       A.   No, sir, it wasn't.

        15

        16       Q.   It seems that by February of 2005 someone had

        17       identified it as being a relevant document for Mr Lindberg

        18       to have with him for the purpose of his interview, if we

        19       interpret that note correctly.  We will just go back to the

        20       top of the page, please.  Was this document brought to your

        21       attention by the end of February 2005?

        22       A.   No, sir, it wasn't.

        23

        24       Q.   Did anybody discuss the substance of this document

        25       with you by the end of February 2005?

        26       A.   I don't believe so.

        27

        28       Q.   We have another one, exhibit 136, MAE.0001.0084.  This

        29       is of 7 May 2000, to Mr Watson from Alia:

        30

        31            We wish to inform you that we have today

        32            received Telex Message No...of May 7, 2000

        33            form --

        34

        35       which probably should be "from" --

        36

        37            the State Company for Water Transport

        38            demanding settlement of the remaining 10%

        39            (Ten Percent) of the transportation charges

        40            incurred in respect of the previous

        41            shipments therefore, please favor us with

        42            the necessary details to enable inform the

        43            aforesaid Company according by --

        44

        45       which perhaps should read "accordingly".  I take it you

        46       were not told of the existence of that document by the end

        47       of February 2005?
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         1       A.   That's correct.

         2

         3       Q.   I won't take you through any number of other

         4       documents.  Can I ask you this:  as of May of 2004, were

         5       you told of the existence of a number of faxes from Alia

         6       which on their face seemed to indicate that Alia was

         7       transferring payments to the ISCWT - the Iraqi State

         8       Company for Water Transport?

         9       A.   I don't believe I was, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   And were you given that information by the end

        12       of February 2005?

        13       A.   No, I wasn't.

        14

        15       Q.   Again, would you have expected documents like that -

        16       those two that I have shown you - to have been caught by

        17       this wide-ranging review that had been conducted up to May

        18       of 2004?

        19       A.   Yes, I would have.

        20

        21       Q.   And would you agree with me that they make plain that

        22       Alia was in fact transferring funds to the ISCWT?

        23       A.   They appear to, sir, in terms of what I know now, yes.

        24

        25       Q.   If we could bring up exhibit 294, which is minutes of

        26       the joint board committee for Project Rose, held on

        27       27 April 2005, which is AWB.0157.0499.  This is April 2005,

        28       Mr Stewart, so we've moved ahead about a year.  I am asking

        29       you about it now in connection with the committee

        30       membership that you have identified of Sarah Scales and

        31       Peter Geary - ELG members.  If we go to the front sheet,

        32       you will see that the minutes record, aside from the

        33       attendance of the directors and the committee members, a

        34       number of AWB or AWBI staff.  The chairman declared the

        35       meeting open at 4pm, and the second point, which appears to

        36       be the first point that the committee dealt with, was

        37       Project Rose:

        38

        39            The Managing Director briefed the Committee

        40            on Project Rose, including the following

        41            issues:

        42

        43       And there are elements there that have been removed for

        44       reasons of legal professional privilege - and I don't want

        45       you to tell us what they were:

        46

        47            The Board discussed the Managing Director's
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         1            Report on Project Rose.

         2

         3       And the next thing that is recorded is the close of that

         4       meeting:

         5

         6            The Chairman declared the meeting closed at

         7            4.15pm.

         8

         9       Now, clearly enough you were the chairman, and you are

        10       recorded as such.  This was a meeting that took place at

        11       Glen Erin Vineyard Retreat, Rochford Road, Lancefield.

        12       That may help to bring it back to your mind.

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Reading the minutes, even without reference to the LPP

        16       material, one has the impression that this was a board

        17       committee, and it was a committee which had been formed for

        18       members of each board - the AWB Limited and the AWB

        19       (International) Limited; am I right about that?

        20       A.   Yes, sir, you are.

        21

        22       Q.   And that the persons recorded as being in attendance

        23       actually attended this board committee meeting; am I right

        24       about that?

        25       A.   The minutes, I think, would reflect the accuracy of

        26       that, yes.

        27

        28       Q.   And that there was a briefing by the managing director

        29       on Project Rose to all of those present?

        30       A.   That would appear to be the case.

        31

        32       Q.   Now, Mr Stott's evidence was, and I am only going to

        33       give you the substance of it, that he believed that, for

        34       this meeting, he and the others - not the directors or the

        35       committee members, but the others recorded as being in

        36       attendance - remained outside whilst this meeting took

        37       place.  Have you any recollection of that?

        38       A.   No, I can't, but it is possible.  Can I put that into

        39       context for you?  The Glen Erin Vineyard Retreat is where

        40       the board holds, or did in this particular case, its

        41       strategy retreat, and this is obviously a briefing of the

        42       committee at that meeting.  The committee itself, when it

        43       was formed, was formed with representation from both the

        44       boards of AWB Limited and AWB (International), as you can

        45       see, but all other directors were welcome to participate so

        46       that they could be kept fully informed of any developments.

        47
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         1       Q.   I am just wondering, if the non-board members, or the

         2       non-directors, were kept outside, why would they be

         3       recorded as being in attendance in these minutes?

         4       A.   Look, I can't answer your question, sir.  I think, if

         5       they are recorded as in attendance, the minutes have been

         6       confirmed, then I would have to assume that they were in

         7       attendance either at all of or part of that particular

         8       meeting.

         9

        10       Q.   From what we can tell, the meeting only lasted

        11       15 minutes.  I am not being critical when I say "only

        12       lasted 15 minutes", but for a meeting that lasts 15

        13       minutes, which appears to have one active agenda item,

        14       which is the delivery of a report or a briefing by the

        15       managing director, and then a discussion of that report,

        16       would not one ordinarily expect that those recorded as

        17       being in attendance were in attendance for all of that

        18       15 minutes?

        19       A.   Look, if the minutes reflect that, then that's what

        20       I would have to believe.  I don't have a recollection of

        21       that particular meeting.  The only other possibility I can

        22       think of would be that if the meeting was declared open by

        23       myself and those people were in attendance at that time

        24       they would be there, but if they left the room that would

        25       normally be noted in the minutes, that they exited

        26       themselves as well.

        27

        28       Q.   Do you know whether there was a written report on

        29       Project Rose provided for that meeting?

        30       A.   No, look, I can't recall that just off the top of my

        31       head.

        32

        33       Q.   May we take it this was one of many briefings that you

        34       received in relation to Project Rose?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   We have a handwritten note by Mr Fuller -

        38       AWB.0328.0317.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is not on the system, apparently.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   I will pass across a copy.

        43

        44       Q.   Could we go to the top of the page.  This is the third

        45       page of notes.  The heading on the first page, at 0315, is

        46       "AWBI", and then the "I" is scratched out, "Strategy

        47       session continued.  27/4/05".  Then at the top of this
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         1       page we see "AWB Ltd Cont 27/4/05", and then "A Lindberg

         2       session:"  Then there are some entries in hand down to a

         3       bracketed entry which commences with the abbreviation "OFF"

         4       a colon and a dash, and then a dot point "Major exposure"

         5       and then a dot point "LPP", "But the headline":

         6

         7            . Major implications for our business

         8            overseas and whether this Corp fit to hold

         9            the Single Desk".

        10

        11       Now, the portion for which a claim of legal professional

        12       privilege has been made has been taken out.  So I am acting

        13       on the assumption, a fairly strong inference, that there is

        14       no claim for legal professional privilege to the balance of

        15       Mr Fuller's note.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, how could what Mr Lindberg

        18       said be subject to a claim for legal professional

        19       privilege?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Only if he is reconveying advice that might have

        22       been given by some other person.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you check that, please?

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   I must say, sir, that I haven't looked at the

        27       original of this, but I will do so immediately.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stewart, what was the major exposure

        32       under the headline "OFF", which I take to be

        33       "Oil-for-Food"; do you recall?

        34       A.   No, look, I can't recall the specifics of that

        35       discussion.

        36

        37       Q.   "Major implications for our business overseas and

        38       whether this corporation fit to hold the single desk".

        39       That would have been right up there with the most important

        40       matters discussed, I would imagine?

        41       A.   I would too.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Can you think hard about that?  It

        44       is not that long ago.

        45       A.   I suspect that the discussion was around issues such

        46       as the reputational damage for the company, both in a

        47       domestic and an international sense.  I mean, we are
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         1       involved in an international business which relies heavily

         2       on the reputation of the company.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that page of the note.  I don't

         5       think there is anything in it that is commercially

         6       confidential.  I wonder if my friend would have a look at

         7       it for that purpose.  It seems not to disclose any

         8       particular strategy or confidential information.

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   That would seem to be so.  In fact, it doesn't

        11       seem to disclose much at all.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   It discloses they discussed a headline

        14       matter with major implications for the business overseas,

        15       whether the group was fit to hold the single desk.  That's

        16       a fairly major disclosure.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Well, yes, it is, sir.  I don't have the

        19       original available now, but we are having it sent up so

        20       that I can answer your query.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #499 PAGE OF NOTES OF MR FULLER HEADED "AWB LTD

        25       CONT 27/4/05"

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you not recall anything about

        28       that discussion, Mr Stewart?

        29       A.   No, I can't, sir.  As I say, I can't recall anything

        30       specific about it.  Obviously the meeting was held, it was

        31       obviously a quick meeting, so I take from the minute that

        32       was shown to me that it must have been in relation to legal

        33       advice in relation to the inquiry or the interviews that

        34       had been held and the ongoing IIC inquiry.  That's --

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go to your statement, I am working

        37       from a draft, but I think you need to go to paragraph 149.

        38       You say:

        39

        40            There was a joint meeting of the boards of

        41            AWB and AWBI on 27 April 2005, specifically

        42            to discuss and consider legal advice

        43            regarding Project Rose.

        44

        45       May we take it that exhibit 294, the minutes of the joint

        46       board committee on Project Rose, reflect what you have set

        47       out in paragraph 149?
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         1       A.   That would be correct.

         2

         3       Q.   Then you go on to say this:

         4

         5            At the next meetings of the Boards of AWB

         6            and AWBI on 24 May 2005 the minutes record

         7            on that day that Mr Lindberg and Mr Cooper

         8            addressed a joint information session for

         9            the boards on Project Rose and the

        10            continuing participation in the Volcker

        11            Inquiry.  I recall that the information

        12            included legal advice about the nature of

        13            the legal review process.  The meeting

        14            concluded on the basis that Mr Lindberg

        15            would go to Canberra to inform the

        16            government of the likelihood of adverse

        17            findings based upon the ownership of the

        18            company, Alia, which had been used for

        19            inland trucking of wheat.

        20

        21       Now, this was in May of 2005, and you go on to say:

        22

        23            Between the Board meetings on 27 April 2005

        24            and 25 May 2005, I believe Mr Lindberg and

        25            Mr Long went to Baghdad with Senator Hill

        26            to discuss further business.

        27

        28       Please feel free to look at the next three paragraphs.  I

        29       will come back to those in a moment.  They may put all of

        30       this in some context for you.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   Sir, I note that the version of the statement up

        33       on the screen is the draft, not the final version.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I apologise for that.  Unfortunately, we must

        36       have been under a misconception that that was going to be

        37       the document that we were going to be proceeding on this

        38       morning and it was loaded on to the system over the

        39       weekend.  I have got both open in front of me.  I don't

        40       think there is any material difference in these paragraphs,

        41       other than that there is a paragraph number change because

        42       of the insertion of an earlier new paragraph.  I wonder if

        43       my friend would consider that and whether, on that basis,

        44       we could continue to project the draft on this point - only

        45       for these paragraphs.

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   Unfortunately, Mr Corbett handed over his
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         1       marked-up copy to Mr Agius.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have another marked-up copy, if you

         4       wish to have it.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   My junior has it.

         7

         8       Q.   Do you have a copy, Mr Stewart?

         9       A.   Not of the marked-up copy.

        10

        11       Q.   But you have got your current statement?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   It appears, sir, that at least paragraphs 149

        15       through to 157 only experience a number change.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if we could, just for the current

        20       purpose until we get the completed statement in its sworn

        21       form, go back to just projecting the draft so that we can

        22       follow this.

        23

        24       Q.   If I take you to paragraph 151, Mr Lindberg was to go

        25       to Canberra to inform the government of the likelihood of

        26       adverse findings based upon the ownership of the company,

        27       Alia, which had been used for inland trucking of wheat.

        28       What information was Mr Lindberg to convey to the

        29       government about the ownership of the company Alia?

        30       A.   I believe that this followed on from the interviews

        31       that had been conducted by the IIC investigators and the

        32       hypothesis that they had brought forward that Alia was not

        33       a 100 per cent Jordanian trucking company, and that there

        34       was some alleged ownership by the Iraqi Government of part

        35       of that Alia business.

        36

        37       Q.   And so that information had been gleaned from the

        38       questions that had been asked by the IIC investigators

        39       during the course of the interviews that had been held

        40       in February of 2005?

        41       A.   That's correct.

        42

        43       Q.   There isn't a claim for legal professional privilege

        44       over that information - I don't want to tread on toes here.

        45       I will ask a question and don't answer it until my learned

        46       friend has had an opportunity to consider it.  May we take

        47       it, then, that at the board meetings of AWB and AWBI on
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         1       24 May 2005 there was discussion about what had come out of

         2       the interviews with the IIC investigators that had been

         3       held in February and March of 2005?

         4       A.   You are talking about the 24 or 25 May meetings now or

         5       the April meeting?

         6

         7       Q.   No, I am talking about the 24 May meeting, because as

         8       I read your statement, paragraphs 150 and 151, it was that

         9       meeting that led to a decision that Mr Lindberg would go to

        10       Canberra.  I am just really trying to narrow down, as best

        11       I can, without impinging upon the claim for legal

        12       professional privilege, why it was that Mr Lindberg was

        13       going to go to Canberra and what was the source of the

        14       information that he was going to convey?

        15       A.   I think at that particular time there was, as we said,

        16       the hypothesis that had been advanced by the IIC

        17       investigators, and there was also other concerns starting

        18       to emanate I believe at about that time about the accuracy

        19       of the interviews, the record of interviews, and I know

        20       also about that time there was a request of the IIC that if

        21       they had information in relation to Alia which would cause

        22       us as a company, and as a board, to review our

        23       relationship - we asked them to provide it to us as soon as

        24       possible.

        25

        26       Q.   Well, of course, as at April or May of 2005 the UN

        27       sanctions under the Oil-for-Food Program no longer applied?

        28       A.   That's correct.

        29

        30       Q.   And AWB had retained Alia to effect - that is, to

        31       actually deliver the wheat after discharge?

        32       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        33

        34       Q.   Isn't that right?

        35       A.   That's right.

        36

        37       Q.   So the circumstances in that regard had entirely

        38       changed from those that prevailed prior to March of 2003,

        39       had they not?

        40       A.   That would be right.

        41

        42       Q.   So may we take it - and it is really your evidence

        43       I want - that Mr Lindberg was to inform the government of

        44       the likelihood of adverse findings only on the basis of

        45       what was thought to be the part ownership of Alia by the

        46       Iraqi regime during the Oil-for-Food Program?

        47       A.   That's my understanding.
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         1

         2       Q.   And that the source of that information was restricted

         3       to the interviews that had been conducted with the IIC

         4       members?

         5       A.   Well that's my understanding of it.

         6

         7       Q.   At paragraph 152 you speak of Mr Lindberg and Mr Long

         8       travelling to Baghdad with Senator Hill to discuss further

         9       business, and that that had occurred between April and May

        10       of 2005.  Was that trip in any way related to any of the

        11       issues thrown up by the Volcker Inquiry?

        12       A.   No, I don't believe it was.  It was in relation to

        13       contract execution problems that we were having and trying

        14       to do more contracts with the Iraqi Government, or the

        15       administration at that particular time.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did AWB tell the Volcker Inquiry

        18       that it had conducted its own investigation?

        19       A.   I believe we did.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Lindberg is recorded in his interview

        22       as referring to the legal review that was undertaken by

        23       Mr Cooper.  I don't want to put any undue emphasis on this,

        24       but in respect of the nature of that review and the fact

        25       that Mr Lindberg disclosed that to the IIC, it has been

        26       said here that Mr Lindberg had no authority to disclose to

        27       the IIC the outcome of the legal review that had been

        28       undertaken by Mr Cooper.  Accepting what was said in that

        29       regard by my learned friend, as we do - that he had no

        30       authority to disclose that - had that been a point of

        31       discussion prior to the interviews with the IIC

        32       investigators; that is, what it was that could or could not

        33       be said about the Project Rose investigation or the legal

        34       review that had been undertaken up to that time?

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   My friend should perhaps qualify that by asking

        37       between whom in relation to the discussion.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, at board level.  I don't want you to

        40       disclose legally professionally privileged material.  So,

        41       leaving that aside, had there been any discussion at board

        42       level about disclosing the existence of what I will call

        43       the legal review, what we might also call Project Rose, to

        44       the IIC?

        45       A.   I can't recall that, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   You can't recall whether there had been any discussion
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         1       on the point as to whether or not the existence of that

         2       review ought to be disclosed?

         3       A.   No, I can't.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you have any discussion with Mr Lindberg on that

         6       point before his interview?

         7       A.   I don't believe I did.

         8

         9       Q.   And trying to come at this the other way, we know that

        10       on or after 22 April you saw the red-lined copies - that

        11       is, the corrected copies - of the summaries of the

        12       interviews?

        13       A.   It was some time after that.  I never read those in

        14       any detail.  I still to this day haven't read all of the

        15       detail in all of these interviews.

        16

        17       Q.   You said you never read it in detail.  Did you read

        18       that portion of Mr Lindberg's summary where he makes

        19       reference to the legal review that was carried out by

        20       Mr Cooper?

        21       A.   No, I haven't.

        22

        23       Q.   Were you aware that Mr Lindberg had said that to the

        24       IIC investigators?

        25       A.   No, I wasn't.

        26

        27       Q.   When did you first learn that Mr Lindberg had said

        28       anything about that legal review to the IIC?

        29       A.   I'm not sure that I ever did become aware of that.

        30

        31       Q.   Can you recollect any instruction to Mr Lindberg that

        32       he was not to refer to the legal review or to Project Rose

        33       in discussions with the IIC?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   Would you confirm that, of all the documents that were

        37       shown to the IIC in the course of their investigation,

        38       there was no report of any investigation conducted by

        39       Project Rose?

        40       A.   Well, it is impossible for me to confirm that, sir.

        41       I never saw the documents that were presented to the IIC.

        42       I understand that there was in excess of 24,000 pages.

        43

        44       Q.   There were 79 volumes of material that the IIC saw,

        45       and nowhere within those 79 volumes, I am suggesting to

        46       you, was there any report from Project Rose.  You are not

        47       in a position to say?
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         1       A.   I am not in a position to say, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   And nowhere within those volumes were there any of the

         4       emails that I have shown you today - you are not in a

         5       position to say?

         6       A.   Not in a position to say, sir.

         7

         8       Q.   And, again, nowhere within those volumes were there

         9       any trip reports.  Again, you are not in a position to say

        10       that either?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   Just working on through your statement --

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, what is the basis on which it

        16       is said that Mr Lindberg didn't have authority to disclose

        17       the outcomes of Project Rose to the IIC?

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   There is no evidence that he did.  There is no

        20       indication that the board ever authorised the disclosure.

        21       He is not the owner of the privilege.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   There is no question that privilege

        24       arose at that point in time.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   I am sorry?  I missed that.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:  No question of privilege at that time

        29       ever arose, did it?

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   There was no claim made for legal professional

        32       privilege.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, then why shouldn't the chief

        35       executive officer have authority to disclose something

        36       within his purview?

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   There may be debate as to the scope of his

        39       authority, but the fact is it would seem clear enough that

        40       the board didn't authorise him to disclose the content.

        41       There is no reason why he can't say that there is a

        42       Project Rose.  He went on to express something about its

        43       conclusions.

        44

        45            This, sir, arose in the context of an argument that

        46       was being advanced that in some way what was said amounted

        47       to a waiver.  I think our primary submission was that it
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         1       can't in these circumstances.  The fact that he wasn't

         2       authorised expressly to disclose it was one limb of the

         3       argument.

         4

         5            Now, if it be said, "Well, look, he is the managing

         6       director, he has ostensible authority to make that sort of

         7       decision", so be it.  We don't say that that changes the

         8       position at all as far as waiver is concerned, and the

         9       reason for that is, as I advanced to you, sir, on the

        10       occasion that this issue arose, that --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   That was in a discussion about waiver

        13       to this inquiry.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   No, no, that was in discussion about whether or

        16       not that disclosure constituted a waiver for the purpose of

        17       this inquiry.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Yes.  And it was in that context that we were

        22       advancing the argument that even if Mr Lindberg --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   So your position is that there is

        25       nothing to suggest that Mr Lindberg didn't have authority

        26       to disclose the outcome to the Volcker Inquiry because he

        27       was the chief executive officer, but once the matter comes

        28       before me and the claim for legal professional privilege is

        29       taken by the board, then I can't be told about it.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I was working through your statement and

        36       I think we had come to paragraph 153, which is 152 of the

        37       draft, on page 35, just so the monitor can follow:

        38

        39            On 30 May 2005 Mr Matt Trewin and Ms Peta

        40            Slack-Smith prepared a memorandum to

        41            Mr Lindberg and me about meetings in

        42            Canberra scheduled on 31 May and 1 June

        43            2005.

        44

        45       And then you speak about travelling to Canberra with

        46       Mr Lindberg and AWB staff in government relations and that

        47       you attended most of the meetings referred to in the
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         1       memorandum, you believe, up until the meeting with Minister

         2       Truss in the afternoon of 1 June 2005.  Now, can we bring

         3       up, please, AWB.0319.0033.  Is this the memorandum to which

         4       you make reference in paragraph 153 of your statement,

         5       paragraph 152 of the draft?

         6       A.   It is.

         7

         8       Q.   And when you said that you believe up until the

         9       meeting with Minister Truss you attended most of the

        10       meetings, do you include the meeting with Minister Truss as

        11       one which you attended?

        12       A.   I actually can't recall whether I did actually attend

        13       that meeting with Minister Truss or whether I didn't.  I

        14       know that I had a later engagement that afternoon with the

        15       Wheat Export Authority, and we had a meeting with Mr Besley

        16       and some of his officers.  I just can't recall exactly

        17       which meeting was my last meeting.  But certainly I went to

        18       the meeting with the secretary, the new secretary of the

        19       department, and I believe I did go to the meeting with

        20       Minister Truss, but I can't be 100 per cent sure about it.

        21

        22       Q.   Again, I don't want you to reveal anything that's

        23       legally professionally privileged or for which you have

        24       made a claim, but when we look at this schedule, your first

        25       meeting at 31 May from 5.30 to 6pm, Mr Lindberg and

        26       Mr Trewin met with "Paul O'Sullivan (PMO)" - what's that a

        27       reference to?

        28       A.   Prime Minister's office.

        29

        30       Q.   "& Peter Langhorne (Anderson COS)"?

        31       A.   Chief of staff.

        32

        33       Q.   May I take it that you didn't attend that meeting?

        34       A.   I don't believe I did.  I can't recall.  I mean, it is

        35       possible I may have.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you discuss Project Rose in the course of that

        38       meeting?

        39       A.   We didn't discuss Project Rose.  We discussed,

        40       I think, the Volcker Inquiry and what it was - where it

        41       seemed to be heading in terms of the hypothesis that they

        42       had presented, and the reference to "Iraq market" was a

        43       reference to a grains facility that we had been talking to

        44       government agencies and ministers about over a period of

        45       time in order to try and rebuild the Iraq market and to get

        46       a competitive advantage, if you like, in the Iraq market

        47       post the hostilities and with the new Iraq administration.
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         1

         2       Q.   Well, you will forgive me because the document refers

         3       to "Project Rose".  Is there any other document which would

         4       indicate the issues that you raised in the course of any

         5       one of these meetings, or issues that were raised with you

         6       in the course of any one of these meetings?

         7       A.   I believe there was a briefing in a paper that was

         8       drawn up that was attached to this schedule of meetings.

         9

        10       Q.   We have a number of documents that were connected to

        11       this document, this being a six-page document.  If we go to

        12       the next page, 0034, there doesn't seem to be anything on

        13       that page about what I might call the issues emerging from

        14       the Volcker Inquiry.  Could we go to the next page, 0035.

        15       There is nothing on that page.  If we go to page 0036,

        16       there doesn't seem to be anything on page 0036.  Then if we

        17       go to page 0037, that's all about infrastructure?

        18       A.   I believe the infrastructure briefing was in relation

        19       to meetings held later in the day that I didn't attend.

        20

        21       Q.   And then the last page is a continuation of the

        22       infrastructure points and it refers to export grain

        23       logistics.  So there doesn't seem to be anything in the

        24       document that would present as a briefing in relation

        25       either to Project Rose or to any issues that might emerge

        26       from the Volcker Inquiry.  Was there any other document

        27       that you can recall?

        28       A.   I don't believe so.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   In relation to this document, I would tender

        31       the first page.  We will remove the mobile phone numbers at

        32       the bottom, and I would ask for a non-publication order in

        33       relation to those, Mr Commissioner.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Otherwise I tender the document as a public

        38       exhibit.

        39

        40       EXHIBIT #500 SCHEDULE TO BRENDAN STEWART AND ANDREW

        41       LINDBERG, FROM MATT TREWIN & PETA SLACK-SMITH,

        42       BARCODED AWB.0319.0033

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is subject to a non-publication

        45       order in respect of the telephone numbers.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   I wonder whether my friend would consider



            .6/3/06 (40)               3984     B J STEWART (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       whether pages 2 to 6 ought to be a public exhibit or

         2       whether there is a claim for commercial confidentiality.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   We will do that straight away.  I don't have a

         5       hard copy of the document with me, but if I can get one I

         6       will look at it over lunch.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Can we leave that as a matter to be addressed

         9       later in the day.  I think for present purposes I will

        10       include it as part of exhibit 500 and simply ask that there

        11       be a non-publication order for pages 0034 to 0038 inclusive

        12       until further order.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I make that order.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #500 ADDITION OF PAGES 0034 TO 0038 INCLUSIVE

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go back to exhibit 500, which is on

        19       the screen, you are first recorded as having a meeting with

        20       Brad Williams, the COS for Minister Vaile.  Do you recall

        21       what, if anything, you said to Mr Williams about Project

        22       Rose?

        23       A.   I think the context of the discussions was not so much

        24       around Project Rose, it was actually - it was really a

        25       reference to where the Volcker Inquiry stood at that

        26       particular time, and obviously in the context that we had

        27       had previous correspondence from both Minister Downer and

        28       Minister Vaile about our cooperation with the Volcker

        29       Inquiry, and it would have been more by way of update that,

        30       yes, we are cooperating with the Volcker Inquiry, there has

        31       been a series of interviews, and there would have been

        32       nothing specific, I don't believe, in relation to Project

        33       Rose itself.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you tell anybody that you met on that day from a

        36       minister's office or any minister - or, indeed, anybody

        37       else that's referred to on this schedule - that AWB was

        38       aware that it had been paying money which had found its way

        39       to the Iraqi regime?

        40       A.   No, sir.  That wasn't the state of my knowledge at the

        41       time.

        42

        43       Q.   I just need to go through this with you.  I am not

        44       suggesting that it was or it wasn't, but that's why I am

        45       asking you.  Did you speak about the likelihood of an

        46       adverse finding because Alia was evidently part owned by

        47       the Iraqi regime?
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         1       A.   I believe that was discussed.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you speak about what AWB's position was concerning

         4       breach of sanctions?

         5       A.   I can't recall whether our position on breach of

         6       sanctions was actually discussed, but certainly the former

         7       issue was.

         8

         9       Q.   Can you recall anything else that you spoke about

        10       during the course of any one of those meetings?

        11       A.   I think if there was any discussion around breaches of

        12       sanctions it would have centred around the issue as to

        13       whether ownership of Alia in itself would change any

        14       position in relation to breach of sanctions, but at that

        15       particular stage I had no other information that would

        16       suggest that that was the case.

        17

        18       Q.   What about the material we see recorded in exhibit 499

        19       from Mr Fuller's diary note or handwritten note of 27/4/05.

        20       Under "OFF" he had written:

        21

        22            Major exposure -

        23            ...but the headline

        24            . Major implications for our business

        25            overseas and whether this Corp fit to hold

        26            the Single Desk.

        27

        28       Did you have any discussions along those lines with any of

        29       the persons referred to in this memorandum, exhibit 500?

        30       A.   Look, I don't believe in specifics in relation to

        31       those particular comments that we had any discussion.

        32       There obviously would have been discussions about the

        33       potential harm to the reputation of AWB of an adverse

        34       finding, if that actually came about, and there would have

        35       been obviously discussion about how that would impact on

        36       the government in relation to the fact that we hold the

        37       single desk licence, we manage on behalf of Australian

        38       wheat grower.

        39

        40       Q.   I am trying to summarise this, and I don't want to do

        41       you an injustice, but were you maintaining the position

        42       that AWB had not knowingly acted in breach of sanctions?

        43       A.   I am quite confident I would have been maintaining

        44       that position because I had no other information at that

        45       time.

        46

        47       Q.   And maintaining that position strongly?
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         1       A.   I think "strongly" is probably not the right way to

         2       put it.  We would have been, I think, presenting the

         3       proposition that we were maintaining the position, that

         4       I had seen nothing that would lead me to any other position

         5       at this particular stage.

         6

         7       Q.   Did you disclose the fact of the internal inquiry,

         8       which we call Project Rose, during the course of any of

         9       these meetings?

        10       A.   I think we would have relayed to ministers and staff

        11       that we had undertaken inquiries of our own, and that they

        12       were quite extensive, but not the outcomes of those

        13       inquiries.

        14

        15       Q.   Just that you had inquiries under way?

        16       A.   Absolutely.

        17

        18       Q.   That they were extensive?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   But not the outcome at all?

        22       A.   I don't believe so.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why is that?

        25       A.   Well, I would have been saying that at this stage

        26       I haven't seen anything that would lead me to believe that

        27       the allegations as they presented or the hypothesis was

        28       actually correct, but we will continue to keep working.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time?

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will adjourn until 2 o'clock.

        33

        34       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        35

        36

        37

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, can I just address a couple of

         4       matters that were raised this morning.  I did say that we

         5       had prepared something in writing on the question of

         6       privilege.  I'll just hand it to the Commission, if I may.

         7       It may be of some assistance.  The substance I've already

         8       spoken to and I won't repeat it.

         9

        10            It may be that perhaps it should be incorporated into

        11       the material by some means, if I can hand it to your

        12       associate, sir.  I hand up a number of copies.  It's a

        13       short memorandum by Susan McNickol, dated 6 March 2006,

        14       prepared for our assistance.  She's a member of the

        15       Victorian Bar and the learned author of the text on legal

        16       professional privilege.

        17

        18            We're grateful, sir, for the reference that you

        19       provided us on the drawing of inferences.  We have that,

        20       and we have also considered the legal professional

        21       privilege claim that you directed my attention to.  In the

        22       handwritten note of Mr Fuller there are a couple of words

        23       which, on their own, may be a conveying of Mr Lindberg's

        24       views or legal advice given by another in a very summary

        25       fashion, but by reference to those parts that have been

        26       edited from the minutes of the joint board meeting on

        27       27 April 2005 there can be no doubt but that they refer to

        28       advice given by qualified lawyers on particular topics.

        29       For that reason, the claim is maintained in relation to

        30       both the handwritten notes and the 27 April 2005 minutes.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would have thought the minutes would

        33       have been taken from these notes, rather than the other way

        34       around.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   That's why, sir - I might have been

        37       misunderstood when I said it earlier - the handwritten

        38       notes sometimes are a little cryptic, but given the

        39       context, the correlation between the comment there and the

        40       minutes, which are a little fuller and do explicitly

        41       disclose what is classically legal advice, would seem to

        42       indicate that that is so.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll have to take your word for that.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   We have earnestly reviewed it, sir.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I was asking you about May 2005.  We have

         4       an email from Mr Hargreaves to you of 20 May 2005, which

         5       would be just over a week before your visit to Canberra.

         6       Could we bring up AWB.0319.0031.

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   If we go over the page --

        10       A.   There must be some before that, is there, sir, at the

        11       bottom of the previous page?

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, there is.  We'll go back to the

        14       previous page.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I think what Mr Hargreaves has done,

        17       reading this document as best I can, is to set out at the

        18       bottom of his email what was his summary of an earlier

        19       request for information from the IIC.

        20       A.   That appears to be the case.  Could I just go to the

        21       second page?  Yes, Mr Agius.

        22

        23       Q.   You'll see that, at point 8 on the second page of this

        24       email, the IIC were wanting to interview Messrs Whitwell,

        25       Watson, Emons, Stott and Edmonds-Wilson, and it's apparent

        26       that the arrangements were to be made by Mr Cooper and

        27       Mr Hargreaves.  Do you know whether or not those persons -

        28       Whitwell, Watson, Emons and Edmonds-Wilson, or indeed

        29       Mr Stott - were ever interviewed by the IIC?

        30       A.   No, I don't, sir.

        31

        32       Q.   Do you know whether or not the scope of Project Rose

        33       was such as to permit interviews with those persons?

        34       A.   No, I don't.

        35

        36       Q.   If we go back to the previous page, point 3 at the

        37       bottom, "The IIC request":

        38

        39            3.  Other than Michael Long, who were

        40            responsible for the negotiation of

        41            contracts between AWB and the Government of

        42            Iraq.

        43

        44       That had apparently been assigned to Michael Long and

        45       Charles Stott.  Do you know whether that was ever responded

        46       to?

        47       A.   No, I don't, sir.
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         1

         2       Q.   Given that the IIC had indicated an interest in

         3       speaking to the persons listed in paragraph 8, were you

         4       ever consulted about whether or not those persons should be

         5       interviewed by AWB personnel or by the Project Rose team?

         6       A.   I don't believe I was.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender those two pages, 0031

         9       and 0032.  We will delete from the tender the name, being

        10       the first name that appears in the paragraph numbered 5 on

        11       page 0032.  I would ask for a non-publication order in

        12       relation to that name.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  They will be exhibit 501.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #501 EMAIL FROM MR HARGREAVES TO MR STEWART OF

        17       20/5/2005, BARCODED AWB.0319.0031-0032

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

        20       relation to the name first appearing in the paragraph

        21       numbered 5.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if my learned friend has had an

        24       opportunity to look at exhibit 500 and to comment on the

        25       status of pages 2 to 6.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   We would contend, sir, that those pages, being

        28       the points for discussion with the government

        29       representatives, ought to remain confidential.  That

        30       doesn't mean, of course, that they're not available to the

        31       Commission.  They do address, for example, issues such as

        32       joint ventures, and the like, and strategies, and the like.

        33       Our submission is that they ought to remain as

        34       confidential.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   What do you say, Mr Agius?

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   We have no difficulty with pages 2 to 6 being

        39       marked as a confidential exhibit.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall mark them as confidential

        42       exhibit 166C.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Thank you.

        45

        46       EXHIBIT #166C PAGES 2-6 OF DOCUMENT MARKED AS EXHIBIT 500

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   I think I have confirmed on the record what is

         2       not disclosed in those five pages.  That will remain within

         3       the public domain.

         4

         5       Q.   Mr Stewart, can you recall what you did as a result of

         6       this email from Mr Hargreaves?

         7       A.   I don't --

         8

         9       Q.   He says:

        10

        11            Deb said you were looking for latest

        12            correspondence with IIC that you could read

        13            up on prior to your briefing this

        14            afternoon.

        15

        16       Does that help you?

        17       A.   I believe, Mr Agius, that I took this as a

        18       reconfirmation that the management committee and the

        19       Project Rose team had all this information and that request

        20       at hand had been dealt with appropriately.

        21

        22       Q.   So did this satisfy your request for further

        23       information about the latest correspondence?

        24       A.   It obviously - I must have been referring, I believe,

        25       to correspondence that went over with amendments to the

        26       record of interviews, I think, but, look, I couldn't be

        27       100 per cent sure.  But I believe that the email as it's

        28       outlined there would have given me confidence that

        29       management was dealing with the issues that were currently

        30       before the IIC.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you see the fax that's referred to in the numbered

        33       paragraph 5 on page 0032?

        34       A.   No, I didn't see the fax.

        35

        36       Q.   On 26 September 2005, or thereabouts, Mr Lindberg

        37       received an outline of what was to be expected in the

        38       forthcoming final Volcker Report.  Could we bring up

        39       AWB.0338.0129.  I'll just give you a moment to read that,

        40       Mr Stewart.

        41       A.   The next page, sir?

        42

        43       Q.   If you just indicate to the monitor and we can have

        44       the pages turned.

        45       A.   Next page.  Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   I take it you saw that at about the time that it came
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         1       in?

         2       A.   I did, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you have any part to play in the drafting or the

         5       settling of the reply?

         6       A.   I did have some part to play in - not so much in the

         7       drafting, but in the settling of the reply.  Can I just be

         8       clear which we're talking about, Mr Agius?  Are we talking

         9       about a response that was hand-delivered to Mr Volcker at a

        10       later meeting in New York, or are we actually talking about

        11       a letter dated later in October?

        12

        13       Q.   Well, there are two documents.  One is what we have as

        14       a letter marked by hand of 12 October 2005, which I took to

        15       be a reply directly to the letter that's on the screen from

        16       the IIC of 26 September 2005.

        17       A.   That's correct.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the letter from the IIC of

        20       26 September 2005, at AWB.0338.0129 through to 0132.

        21

        22       EXHIBIT #502 LETTER FROM IIC TO MR LINDBERG,

        23       DATED 26/9/2005, BARCODED AWB.0338.0129-0132

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Your response is dated 12 October 2005.

        26       If we could bring that up, please, at UNO.0003.0226.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #503 RESPONSE BY AWB TO LETTER FROM IIC

        29       DATED 12/10/2005, BARCODED UNO.0003.0226

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   And then the response of 25 October 2005 is

        32       already an exhibit before this inquiry.

        33

        34       Q.   Can you tell the inquiry the circumstances, how it

        35       came to be, that you went to see Mr Volcker in October of

        36       2005?

        37       A.   The circumstances are such that, once we received the

        38       letter from Mr Morden, the executive director of the

        39       inquiry, we were somewhat taken aback - in fact, very taken

        40       aback - by some of the proposed findings of the inquiry.

        41       We then went to Canberra to brief particularly

        42       Minister Downer on the draft findings and then, shortly

        43       after that meeting, we went to New York, as was an

        44       invitation, I believe, at the end of that letter to either

        45       meet with the committee or a representative of the

        46       committee or to have a written submission.  So I

        47       accompanied Mr Lindberg and other advisers to New York,
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         1       where we met with Mr Volcker to discuss the letter that

         2       we'd received.

         3

         4       Q.   Did your briefing with Minister Downer take place at

         5       the end of September 2005?

         6       A.   I believe it was.  I think the statement says

         7       28 September.

         8

         9       Q.   That meeting was at your instigation, was it?

        10       A.   It was.  I believe we asked for the meeting, because

        11       we were obviously very concerned about the proposed

        12       findings by the Volcker committee.

        13

        14       Q.   Was the purpose of that meeting to pass on to

        15       Minister Downer the substance of what you had read in the

        16       26 September 2005 letter?

        17       A.   Yes, it was.

        18

        19       Q.   Then you attended on Mr Volcker in New York on

        20       12 October --

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   -- in the company of Mr Lindberg and lawyers that had

        24       been retained by AWB from Melbourne; is that right?

        25       A.   That's correct, yes.

        26

        27       Q.   During the course of that you had the discussion that

        28       we see set out at paragraphs 174, 175 and 176 of your

        29       statement?

        30       A.   That's correct.

        31

        32       Q.   By the time of your meeting with Mr Volcker on

        33       12 October 2005, had you seen the faxes that Mr Long had

        34       sent to Mr Hargreaves and Ms Thompson on 4 October?

        35       A.   No, I hadn't seen the faxes.

        36

        37       Q.   Had you been given the substance of them?

        38       A.   I think - I'm not particularly sure whether it was in

        39       reference exactly to those faxes or not, but the substance

        40       in terms of the ownership of Alia was certainly portrayed

        41       to me verbally.

        42

        43       Q.   Who told you that?

        44       A.   I think that would have been - I think that would have

        45       been Andrew and the advisers who were there at the time.

        46

        47       Q.   You had before this information from the interview
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         1       with Mr Lindberg and others that it was likely that the IIC

         2       would find that Alia was part owned by the Iraq regime?

         3       A.   That's correct.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you get any more information than that from

         6       Ms Thompson or Mr Lindberg, or whoever else briefed you,

         7       prior to your meeting with Mr Volcker?

         8       A.   As to the ownership of Alia?

         9

        10       Q.   As to any other possible breach of sanction?

        11       A.   I don't believe so.  The next - the real question of

        12       this was when we received the letter from Mr Morden at the

        13       IIC.  What did come as a complete surprise to me was the

        14       finding that in fact Alia was a total front company.

        15

        16       Q.   Did you have some inquiries made about that within

        17       AWB?

        18       A.   I sought assurances from the managing director and

        19       others, particularly the advisers, as to whether anybody

        20       had actually come across anything prior to that time that

        21       would lead me to not want to sign a letter like this.

        22

        23       Q.   So you sought assurance from Mr Lindberg.  What did

        24       you say to him?

        25       A.   I inquired of him was there anything that he'd become

        26       aware of that I haven't been made aware of at this

        27       particular stage that would cause me not to sign this

        28       letter.

        29

        30       Q.   This is your letter of 12 October 2005?

        31       A.   That's correct.

        32

        33       Q.   But what about from on or about 26 September, did you

        34       have any discussions with him then about the draft

        35       conclusions that had been expressed in the 26 September

        36       letter?

        37       A.   I'm sure I did have some discussions with him.  I

        38       believe that Mr Lindberg was as surprised as what I was.

        39       That was certainly what was portrayed to me.

        40

        41       Q.   Could we go back to the letter of 26 September,

        42       AWB.0338.0129.  At the bottom of that page we have the

        43       summary of the report:

        44

        45            Beginning in 1999 for every contract that

        46            AWB entered into with the Iraqi Government

        47            the company was required to pay per metric
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         1            ton "inland transportation fees" to the

         2            government of Iraq on its goods entering

         3            Iraq at Umm Qasr.  Per instructions from

         4            the IGB, AWB made its "inland transport

         5            fee" payments to Alia Transportation and

         6            General Trade ("Alia") a Jordanian front

         7            company for the government of Iraq.

         8

         9       But the new information, you say - that is, information

        10       that was new to you - was that this was a front company for

        11       the Government of Iraq; is that right?

        12       A.   Absolutely.

        13

        14       Q.   Otherwise the other part that I've read was known to

        15       you?

        16       A.   Well, it was commonly understood, or generally

        17       understood, in the organisation and by me that we were

        18       paying inland transport fees to this company Alia under the

        19       approved United Nations contracts.  That was what I was -

        20       that's what I believed.  That was my state of knowledge at

        21       the time.

        22

        23       Q.   Then it goes on:

        24

        25            Between October 1999 and March 2003 AWB

        26            paid Alia approximately $212 million in

        27            fees.

        28

        29       That would not have been new to you

        30       A.   The total figure was certainly new to me.

        31

        32       Q.   You'd never been told that the total figure was in

        33       that order?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.

        37

        38            ...these payments were in turn transferred

        39            by Alia to the Iraqi State Company for

        40            Water Transportation...a state-owned agency

        41            within the Iraqi Ministry of Transport and

        42            Communications

        43

        44       Was that news to you?

        45       A.   That was news to me in that it was put in that

        46       context.

        47
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         1       Q.   What, that Alia had paid money to the Iraqi State

         2       Company for Water Transport - was that news to you?

         3       A.   My understanding was at the time that I believed

         4       that - I had been told that we never in fact paid - AWB

         5       never in fact paid the ISCWT.

         6

         7       Q.   Never in fact paid the ISCWT?

         8       A.   That's right.

         9

        10       Q.   Never made a direct payment to the ISCWT?

        11       A.   That was my understanding.

        12

        13       Q.   I don't think there's any evidence to the contrary, is

        14       there?  The point is that the money was paid to Alia which

        15       in turn paid it to the ISCWT.

        16       A.   Well, I wasn't aware of that particular fact, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   So that was news, that Alia had transferred the money

        19       to an agency of the Iraq administration?

        20       A.   That's right.

        21

        22       Q.   Alia did not actually provide transportation services:

        23       that was news to you, was it, as at 26 September?

        24       A.   That was news to me.

        25

        26       Q.   And that the payments to Alia were in actuality

        27       kickback payments for the benefit of the Government of Iraq

        28       and did not correspond to actual transportation costs - was

        29       that new to you?

        30       A.   That was absolutely new to me.

        31

        32       Q.   Had you believed up until this time that any payments

        33       that had been made to Alia did correspond to actual

        34       transportation costs?

        35       A.   I had been given no information at this stage that

        36       would lead me to believe that Alia was not, (a), a

        37       bona fide transport company, even though there was a

        38       question over some part of the ownership of it, and that,

        39       (b), there was any money that was paid back to the benefit

        40       of Iraq by way of kickback payments.

        41

        42       Q.   There were a number of documents that I took you to

        43       earlier indicating statements by Alia to the effect that it

        44       needed to have certain fees paid so that it could pass them

        45       on to the ISCWT.  I take it you had not seen those

        46       documents as at 26 September 2005?

        47       A.   That's correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   In the next paragraph you were told that the

         3       attachment which was included with the letter reflected two

         4       components, being a 10 per cent aftersales service fee and

         5       a portion for inland transport fees.  Was that news to you

         6       as at 26 September 2005?

         7       A.   It certainly was news to me at 26 September 2005, but

         8       I don't even believe - I think I said in my statement -

         9       that the real understanding of why that was so important

        10       came to light until much later - in fact, in the

        11       preparation for this inquiry.

        12

        13       Q.   Well, as at 26 September 2005 did you know that the

        14       Iraqis had imposed a 10 per cent uplift or a 10 per cent

        15       increase by way of an aftersales service fee or a service

        16       fee on contracts with the AWB from October of the year

        17       2000?

        18       A.   I don't believe I knew that at all.

        19

        20       Q.   So no-one had told you that as at 26 September 2005?

        21       A.   No, they hadn't.

        22

        23       Q.   I take it Operation Rose was still an active

        24       investigation as at 26 September 2005?

        25       A.   I understand there was still some work being conducted

        26       underneath that project, yes.

        27

        28       Q.   We have seen the memo from Mr Lindberg dated May 2004

        29       wherein he said, in effect, that it was nearly completed

        30       and would be completed shortly.  That was more than a year

        31       earlier - in fact, nearly a year and a half earlier.  Why

        32       didn't Operation Rose simply complete within a few weeks of

        33       May 2004?

        34       A.   I think the primary reason was because there continued

        35       to be further allegations - not so much allegations, but

        36       primarily around potential other inquiries that were

        37       happening.  At one stage I have a recollection that there

        38       was up to nine or 10 potential inquiries that were being

        39       mooted, mainly in the United States and the Congress.  I

        40       think there was a subsequent inquiry or a reported

        41       appointment of KPMG by the Iraqi Government of the day, or

        42       administration of the day.  So in effect the role that it

        43       was playing evolved over a period of time.

        44

        45       Q.   But those other inquiries really centred around the

        46       same subject matter, or the same issues, did they not -

        47       whether or not the prices for wheat disclosed in the
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         1       contracts with the IGB were genuine prices for the wheat

         2       referred to in the contracts?

         3       A.   They may have centred around similar contexts, but I

         4       think the context in which we looked at them was quite

         5       different - in fact, significantly different - in that

         6       particularly the proposed hearings in the US Congress, we

         7       were obviously very aware of any political ramifications of

         8       that, and particularly aware that the US Wheat Associates,

         9       our long-time opponent in the market,  had been agitating

        10       for those inquiries.  So they were in a different context

        11       to, if you like, the Volcker Inquiry and the one that was

        12       being reported as being set up by the Iraqi administration

        13       at the time.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, granted that that's a different context in terms

        16       of the process to be followed and in terms of possible

        17       repercussions, but the essential question was the same,

        18       wasn't it?

        19       A.   I don't believe the essential question was the same

        20       going right through, Mr Agius.  I think, without wanting to

        21       get into LPP areas, there was a different context at the

        22       start of Project Rose which centred around individuals,

        23       broadly speaking, and then it went to then the other

        24       allegations that had been raised, such as inflation of

        25       contracts, Alia, et cetera, as it progressed along.

        26

        27       Q.   Just to go back to page 0130, you'd not been told

        28       anything about the significance of the 10 per cent figure

        29       or the concept of an aftersales service fee or a service

        30       fee in relation to AWB contracts as at 26 September 2005?

        31       A.   That's correct.

        32

        33       Q.   Then, to go to the next paragraph, the IIC wrote:

        34

        35            While AWB maintains that it did not know

        36            that Alia was a front company for the

        37            government of Iraq and therefore that its

        38            payments to Alia were actually kickback

        39            payments to the government of Iraq, AWB's

        40            documents and the circumstances of its

        41            sales to Iraq reflected that it knew or

        42            should have known that its payments were

        43            channelled to the government of Iraq

        44            outside of the Programme and in

        45            contravention of the UN sanctions imposed

        46            upon Iraq.

        47
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         1       Now, did you ask to see those documents?

         2       A.   No, I didn't ask to see those particular documents.  I

         3       probably mistakenly assumed that if there was any

         4       documentation in the organisation that would reflect that,

         5       then it would have been shown to me by the Project Rose

         6       team.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you refer the letter of

         9       26 September to Project Rose and ask for a report?

        10       A.   Well, the managing director was in fact closely

        11       involved with the Project Rose, so I would assume that if

        12       he had have had information of that such, he would have

        13       also alerted me.  I'm not suggesting he would have had

        14       access to all the information, but certainly it seems that

        15       he would have seen some of these emails.

        16

        17       Q.   Why wouldn't he have access to all the information?

        18       A.   Well, he probably would have if he'd asked for it, but

        19       in this context.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Given the significance of these findings,

        22       or these projected findings, Mr Stewart, why did you just

        23       take the word of the same people who had been giving you

        24       advice up until now on this point?

        25       A.   Mr Agius, I relied on what I believed to be a thorough

        26       and intensive investigation conducted by both senior

        27       in-house legal counsel as well as two major firms, of which

        28       then there'd been a third firm joined earlier on in that

        29       period.  I sought their advice.  I asked for reassurances

        30       and I continually received them.

        31

        32       Q.   Now you were reading draft findings which indicated

        33       that either there was something wrong with the advice that

        34       you were getting or somebody had missed something; would

        35       you agree with that?

        36       A.   That's one interpretation of it.  The other

        37       interpretation could be that it was not possible for the

        38       people in the team to actually identify and put together

        39       the story as had the Volcker Inquiry with the benefit of

        40       its long-term investigation with all its investigators and

        41       having access to all the other information - for example,

        42       from Iraqi ministries, from the United Nations, from Alia

        43       and others - which we simply didn't have access to.  So

        44       there was a proposition put forward to us, and put forward

        45       to us very strongly - certainly to me - that it wasn't

        46       possible for AWB to come to the same conclusions because we

        47       didn't have access to all that information.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you not think to put together a compilation of

         3       documents, if they existed, which was contradictory to

         4       these projected findings and to bring those documents to

         5       the attention of the IIC?

         6       A.   Well, I didn't at that time.  As I said to you, I was

         7       relying on what I believed to be a comprehensive process

         8       with senior external advice.

         9

        10       Q.   Did you ever question Mr Lindberg about how it could

        11       be that these projected findings were so different and were

        12       so much of a surprise to you, given what he had briefed you

        13       and the board on in relation to this?

        14       A.   I did, and Mr Lindberg, to me, was equally as

        15       surprised about these findings as what I was.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, I can see you both standing there or sitting

        18       there thoroughly surprised and shocked, but what was the

        19       next thing you did?  Surely it was to pick up the phone and

        20       speak to somebody who knew something about Project Rose and

        21       to get some report from them?

        22       A.   Well, we had - I think it was about this time, we had

        23       a board meeting, where we were again advised --

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I don't think you can tell us

        26       that, that's the trouble.

        27       A.   I was just going to say --

        28

        29       Q.   We have your board minutes, and legal professional

        30       privilege is claimed for everything.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I was really asking about what you did,

        33       Mr Stewart.

        34       A.   Well, of course I asked, and I said we needed - the

        35       board needs to be reassured that this isn't right.

        36

        37       Q.   Now, this is September 2005.  By then - I'll come back

        38       to it in more detail later - you had already had the

        39       US Wheat Associates' allegations; you'd had other

        40       allegations to not dissimilar effect; and you had had the

        41       experience of sitting in a joint board meeting, or a

        42       meeting of the two boards at the same time, to receive

        43       information about the Tigris matter.  By 26 September 2005

        44       did not a combination of all of those matters sound alarm

        45       bells to you?

        46       A.   Well, I didn't have information available to me at

        47       that time that linked any of those separate issues.  To my
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         1       mind at the time they were separate issues.

         2

         3       Q.   Following the receipt of this letter, we know of your

         4       meeting - you went to Canberra, you briefed Minister Downer

         5       on what you had learnt from the 26 September 2005 letter.

         6       You took advice, did you - if it's legal advice, don't tell

         7       me, but you got advice from somewhere that you should go

         8       and speak to Mr Volcker face to face?

         9       A.   It's in my statement under paragraph 172 that

        10       Mr Downer advised us that that's what we should do.

        11

        12       Q.   You acted on that advice?

        13       A.   We did.

        14

        15       Q.   May we take it that, but for that advice, you would

        16       not have approached the IIC?

        17       A.   I don't think you can take it from that at all.  It

        18       was certainly something that we had considered.

        19

        20       Q.   The letter of 26 September concludes in this way:

        21

        22            Prior to the release of its findings and an

        23            upcoming report, the Committee is providing

        24            AWB with the opportunity to present any

        25            additional relevant information.  If the

        26            company has information that it would like

        27            the Committee to consider prior to the

        28            publication of its written report, the

        29            company may submit it in writing or may

        30            meet personally with a Committee member,

        31            with or without a legal representative, to

        32            present the information.

        33

        34       So you were considering whether or not to take up the offer

        35       of a meeting with a member of the committee?

        36       A.   That's correct.

        37

        38       Q.   That meeting was arranged and you attended it in the

        39       way in which we've covered and hand-delivered exhibit 503,

        40       the letter of 12 October 2005?

        41       A.   That's correct.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stewart, in paragraph 172 of

        44       your statement you address the meeting with

        45       Minister Downer.  You obviously told him about the proposed

        46       findings in the letter of 26 September.  Your statement

        47       says:
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         1

         2            We told the Minister what the proposed

         3            findings were.  The board was concerned

         4            about the procedural fairness of the

         5            Volcker Inquiry and whether to continue

         6            cooperating when our express concerns had

         7            been ignored.

         8

         9       Weren't you concerned about the substance of what he was

        10       finding, rather than procedural fairness?

        11       A.   We were concerned about all those things,

        12       Commissioner.

        13

        14       Q.   Well, did you have any discussion about the substance

        15       with Minister Downer?

        16       A.   We did inform the minister of what the draft findings

        17       as per this letter were.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you before your visit to Mr Volcker on

        20       12 October 2005 consider speaking to any of your executives

        21       other than Mr Lindberg?

        22       A.   No, I didn't.

        23

        24       Q.   You didn't consider speaking to Mr Geary or Ms Scales

        25       or other people who were still with AWB and had been there

        26       from 1999 or before?

        27       A.   No, I didn't.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you speak with Mr Cooper or

        30       Mr Quennell, the people who actually conducted this

        31       so-called thorough inquiry?

        32       A.   The board on a number of occasions had had opportunity

        33       to speak with both those gentlemen.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But did you speak to them again after

        36       26 September 2005 and before your visit to Mr Volcker on

        37       12 October 2005?

        38       A.   I can't recall specifically whether I actually spoke

        39       to those two gentlemen in that period of time or not, but I

        40       certainly took advice.

        41

        42       Q.   What seems to be missing from the response to the

        43       Volcker projected findings is any compilation of material

        44       put together at AWB which might contradict these projected

        45       findings.  Did you have anybody follow that course of

        46       action?

        47       A.   Well, I would - again, I relied on the competence of
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         1       the investigation that happened, that if information such

         2       as that had been identified, it would have been brought

         3       forward to me.  This had been going for a very long period

         4       of time.  We had an enormous amount of external advice and

         5       assistance in this.  I would have expected that anything

         6       that had been brought to light that didn't back what we

         7       were potentially going to say in this response to

         8       Mr Volcker would have been brought to my attention.

         9

        10       Q.   You see, on one view AWB personnel and Mr Flugge, a

        11       former AWB chairman, were interviewed in February and March

        12       of 2005.  At that stage you don't know all of the material

        13       that the Volcker Inquiry has, and you're not entirely sure

        14       as to the precise terms of its investigation, but you know

        15       that there's an investigation into whether or not there's a

        16       breach of sanctions and you know that the Volcker Inquiry

        17       are looking at the contracts and you know that they're

        18       looking at the contract prices, and you know that that

        19       inquiry has come out of an earlier investigation which

        20       indicated that there may have been inflated contracts for

        21       the provision of humanitarian goods generally.  And you

        22       know that those statements, after they're corrected, go to

        23       the Volcker Inquiry.  What we don't see is any material

        24       after 26 September contradicting those findings, other than

        25       submissions.  We see the submission in the 12 October 2005

        26       letter, and we see the submission in the 25 October letter,

        27       but what we don't see is any additional evidence, any

        28       statements from any of the persons who had day-to-day

        29       dealings with Alia or the IGB.  Why is that material

        30       absent?

        31       A.   Well, I can't answer that question, except to say that

        32       we took advice.  I sought assurances as to the process and

        33       as to what that process had uncovered, and I was

        34       continually reassured that there'd been nothing brought to

        35       light that would --

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, you can't tell us that.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I suggest to you that one reason why

        40       that material is absent is because if those people had been

        41       interviewed and statements taken from them, there was an

        42       appreciation that it would not assist the AWB's cause?

        43       A.   I simply can't answer that question.  I can't

        44       speculate about somebody else's state of mind.

        45

        46       Q.   You see, as chairman I'm putting to you an inference

        47       that is available to be drawn by this inquiry and giving
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         1       you an opportunity to respond to that.

         2       A.   Well, I think I said earlier, in terms of - I think

         3       there's two inferences that are possible.  One is that the

         4       investigation didn't uncover the information which has now

         5       come to light; alternatively, if it did uncover it, that it

         6       was withheld.  I don't know which is the answer to those

         7       two questions, and I'm hoping that your commission will

         8       actually help us discover the answer to that.

         9

        10       Q.   Well, as we understand that investigation - you can

        11       only tell us about the form of it, apparently, and not the

        12       substance - there don't seem to be any financial restraints

        13       on it.  You didn't say to any of the people who were

        14       conducting the investigation, "When you get to X dollars,

        15       you have to stop."

        16       A.    Well, I think that would probably indicate that the

        17       board was committed to actually finding any information

        18       that might be relevant.

        19

        20       Q.   And you didn't put any other parameters on it in terms

        21       of "There are certain people that you're not allowed to

        22       talk to", or "There's certain information you're not

        23       allowed to search through" - there were no instructions to

        24       that effect either?

        25       A.   No, definitely not.  It would be improper for us to

        26       put constraints around - as a board, to put constraints

        27       around where and how wide the inquiry should go if it was

        28       seeking to find answers to these questions.

        29

        30       Q.   But you appreciate that most of what this inquiry has

        31       exposed about the real nature of the relationship with Alia

        32       and the IGB has come from the AWB's own records.

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   And that, in the main, it's been a matter of going to

        36       various AWB records and putting those to various witnesses.

        37       A.   That's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you tell Mr Volcker, in the course of your meeting

        40       with him, that you'd received information concerning the

        41       real role of Alia in all of this?

        42       A.   I don't believe - I don't believe we did, because I

        43       believe, if you look at the response that we tendered, we

        44       actually accepted the Volcker committee's findings.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you consult with Project Rose

        47       before you accepted those findings?
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         1       A.   With the Project Rose team?  No, I sought - I would

         2       have spoken to the managing director and to the other

         3       advisers who were advising the company by this stage.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What you say in this letter of 12 October,

         6       if we now go to UNO.0003.0226, in the second paragraph, is:

         7

         8            ...AWB has taken very seriously the

         9            proposed findings that AWB knew or should

        10            have known that payments to the trucking

        11            contractor Alia...were payments to the

        12            government of Iraq outside the OFF Program.

        13            It has been particularly distressing to

        14            learn that Alia was a front company for the

        15            former regime that channelled the trucking

        16            fees to the Iraqi State Company for Water

        17            Transportation...We appreciate the new

        18            information provided by the Committee and

        19            the opportunity to submit this response.

        20

        21       Do you go on in this letter to accept the projected

        22       findings of the IIC?  I rather thought that the very

        23       purpose of this letter was to dispute those findings as

        24       they reflected upon the position of AWB?

        25       A.   I might be confused in relation to this letter and the

        26       letter of 25 October, I think it's dated --

        27

        28       Q.   Yes, that was the final submission.

        29       A.   -- where we accept their finding in relation to Alia.

        30       But I'd have to check that, sir.  My memory doesn't serve

        31       me good enough.

        32

        33       Q.   I don't think you'll find any such acceptance in this

        34       letter.  This letter seems to concern itself with what AWB

        35       knew and what AWB ought to have known.

        36       A.   That's --

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   With respect, sir, my friend read the second

        39       sentence of the second paragraph before, which seemed, at

        40       least from one interpretation, an acceptance.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Sorry, the second sentence of which paragraph?

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   The second paragraph, "It has been particularly

        45       distressing to learn".

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   I thought I had read that.
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   You have.  I rose to object to the proposition

         3       that there was nothing contained in this letter that

         4       appeared to be an acceptance of the position, but rather it

         5       was one seeking to do the opposite.  That seems, in our

         6       respectful submission, to be clearly an acceptance of the

         7       factual position upon which the rest of the letter is

         8       predicated.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What I'm putting to you, Mr Stewart, so

        13       that there's no doubt is that it seems that the purpose of

        14       this letter was to address the issues of what AWB did know

        15       and what it should or ought to have known.

        16       A.   That's correct.  As we just heard, in relation to

        17       learning that Alia was in a sense a total front company

        18       compared to what we considered it to be, as we were saying,

        19       we were distressed to learn of that.  Then we go on to talk

        20       about potentially - particularly what we knew compared to

        21       what they could say we should have known, and there was a

        22       long discussion about that with Mr Volcker at that

        23       meeting - and his colleagues.  Then there was discussion

        24       about things like whether we were witting or unwitting

        25       participants, and then there was a long discussion also

        26       about what the hurdle was in terms of - or the burden of

        27       proof, if you like, and that was centred around a

        28       discussion, I recall, about reasonable sufficiency.

        29

        30       Q.   If we go through this letter and compare it to what

        31       the evidence discloses was otherwise known within AWB, it

        32       seems that you were making a submission which did not

        33       reflect a great deal of material that you're now aware

        34       of - would you agree with that?

        35       A.   That's correct.

        36

        37       Q.   Is that your position, that you were not aware of the

        38       material which would indicate that some of the submissions

        39       in this letter are not accurate?

        40       A.   Mr Agius, if I had been aware of that material,

        41       there's no way in the world I would have put pen to paper

        42       and signed this letter or the subsequent 25 October letter.

        43

        44       Q.   Would you agree with me that there is now material?

        45       If you go to the fourth paragraph, commencing "In its

        46       26th September 2005 letter", on the third line you'll see

        47       this statement:
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         1

         2            AWB did not view Alia to be a front company

         3            for the government...

         4

         5       Would you agree with me that there is material which

         6       indicates --

         7       A.   Could we just scroll down?

         8

         9       Q.   I will start again.  Do you have the first full

        10       paragraph under the letter "A"?

        11       A.   Sorry, I was looking at the wrong paragraph.  I was

        12       looking at the third one down that starts --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's the last paragraph on the page.

        15

        16       THE WITNESS:   Sir, can I just clarify, are you looking at

        17       the first paragraph under item A?

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Yes, the first paragraph under item A.

        20       It's my fault.  I see that there are two paragraphs that

        21       begin in the same way.  The first paragraph under item A,

        22       and the third sentence:

        23

        24            AWB did not view Alia to be a front company

        25            for the government...

        26

        27       Would you agree with me that today you've seen emails which

        28       indicate that in fact when this system was set up Alia was

        29       exactly that, a front company for the Iraq regime to

        30       receive payments made by AWB?

        31       A.   Mr Agius, to be honest with you, I don't know what to

        32       think at this particular point in time, because - I mean, I

        33       know that there's still - Alia still operates.  I know

        34       that - or I believe that Alia still operates.  I believe

        35       that Alia operates trucks.  What I was reflecting when I

        36       signed this letter was what I'd been told about the

        37       operations at that particular time.

        38

        39            Now, I accept that there's been a lot of evidence put

        40       before this inquiry that I never had access to and that the

        41       board never had access to, and had we had access to that, I

        42       accept that I certainly would not have put my signature on

        43       a letter like this.  I don't believe that Andrew Lindberg,

        44       as the managing director at the time, would have allowed me

        45       to sign it, had he known, but I really don't know.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, you don't have a doubt now, do you, that Alia
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         1       was a front company for the government of Iraq?

         2       A.   Well, we accepted the finding of the Volcker committee

         3       in relation to the fact that they said it was a front

         4       company for the government of Iraq.  I still don't know

         5       what the total ownership of Alia is to this very day and

         6       what services, if any, it actually provided.

         7

         8       Q.   You know what Mr Long was told, that the service it

         9       provided was to pass money from AWB to the ISCWT and that,

        10       for that service, it received a commission of

        11       0.25 per cent.

        12       A.   I do accept that that's now the record, and I believe

        13       that representatives of Alia also conveyed that to the IIC.

        14

        15       Q.   And to this inquiry separately, and that they conveyed

        16       to the IIC and separately to this inquiry that they never

        17       conducted any trucking --

        18       A.   I accept that.

        19

        20       Q.   -- of any of the AWB wheat?

        21       A.   I accept that that's what's been conveyed.

        22

        23       Q.   Would you accept that there's material that you've

        24       seen today that makes plain that there were employees of

        25       AWB that did view Alia as merely a conduit, a method of

        26       paying money to the IGB?

        27       A.   I have to accept that that's what appears to be

        28       presented to me today.

        29

        30       Q.   Going to the next paragraph and the third-last line,

        31       wherein you say, "Indeed, one would expect the IGB and Alia

        32       not to have informed AWB of Alia's internal arrangements

        33       with the IGB or the ISCWT if it had been the government's

        34       purpose to induce AWB to unwittingly make payments to the

        35       government under the guise of trucking fees", would you

        36       accept that you've seen material today which makes plain

        37       that Alia did disclose its internal arrangements with the

        38       ISCWT to the effect that it disclosed that it was onpaying

        39       the money paid to it to the ISCWT?

        40       A.   I accept that that's the - that's what's been

        41       presented.

        42

        43       Q.   If we go over the page to the second paragraph,

        44       halfway through that paragraph there's a sentence:

        45

        46            As to the sixth point concerning an absence

        47            of documentation reflecting services
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         1            provided by Alia, numerous communications

         2            corroborate AWB's belief that Alia was

         3            providing a trucking service.

         4

         5       Were you told that, that there were numerous communications

         6       between AWB and Alia which corroborated AWB's belief that

         7       Alia was providing a trucking service?

         8       A.   I was.

         9

        10       Q.   Have you seen any of that?

        11       A.   No, I haven't.

        12

        13       Q.   Even to this day?

        14       A.   Oh, look, I may have, but I can't recall any specific

        15       instances.  I think it was generally a reference to the

        16       fact that staff had visited the Alia offices, there'd been

        17       ongoing discussions with Alia about the need to have more

        18       trucks arrive at the port and they needed to be there on

        19       time so that we could reduce the issues around demurrage.

        20       Those were the sorts of things that had been reported to

        21       me.

        22

        23       Q.   Would it surprise you that we've not been able to

        24       locate a great many documents - should I say, quoting from

        25       this letter, "numerous communications corroborating AWB's

        26       belief that Alia was providing a trucking service"?

        27       A.   Well, it would surprise me, but, as I say, I don't

        28       know anymore, to be honest with you.

        29

        30       Q.   In the next paragraph you say:

        31

        32            As to the eighth point concerning the IGB's

        33            appointment of Alia, it is not correct to

        34            suggest that AWB was not permitted to seek

        35            the services of another transport company.

        36

        37       Where did you get that information from, that it was not

        38       correct to suggest that AWB was not permitted to seek the

        39       services of another transport company?

        40       A.   Well, again, I was advised that.  I'm just reading the

        41       rest of the paragraph.  I believe that refers to what I'd

        42       been told, that it wasn't a matter of us choosing, it was a

        43       matter of the contract actually leaving that decision to

        44       the IGB.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you ever see such a term in any contract?

        47       A.   I hadn't seen any contracts, Mr Agius, until the start
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         1       of this inquiry.  As a non-executive director and chairman

         2       of the company, I don't get into those operational issues.

         3

         4       Q.   Mr Stewart, that sentence that I read to you contains

         5       a double negative, which is always quicksand to anybody

         6       wanting to interpret what a sentence means.  It says "it is

         7       not correct to suggest that AWB was not permitted to seek

         8       the services of another transport company."  One way of

         9       reading that sentence - and it seems to me to be the

        10       obvious way - is that it is correct to suggest that AWB was

        11       permitted to seek the services of another transport

        12       company.  Were you given information to that effect?

        13       A.   No, I wasn't.

        14

        15       Q.   Then if we go further down in the same paragraph:

        16

        17            As to the ninth point concerning the

        18            increase in trucking fees in the later

        19            phases of the OFF Program, AWB was never

        20            informed of any "ASSF" policy on behalf of

        21            the government --

        22

        23       we read that as aftersales service fee policy on behalf of

        24       the government --

        25

        26            and AWB never made payments characterised

        27            as service fees.

        28

        29       Where did you get that information from?

        30       A.   Well, again, I was told that - and assured that that

        31       was the case, but it's clearly not the case.

        32

        33       Q.   Who gave you that assurance?

        34       A.   Well, again, we were assured by the project that had

        35       been undertaken and also by the managing director that he

        36       wasn't aware of anything in relation to that as well.

        37

        38       Q.   Can we go to the last page, 0229, and the second

        39       paragraph, commencing with the word "First".  The second

        40       sentence reads:

        41

        42            As noted, no one ever suggested to AWB that

        43            the trucking costs included "after sales

        44            services fees," and AWB never paid fees

        45            characterised in the manner reflected in

        46            the schedule attached to the Committee's

        47            26th September 2005 letter.  Second, the
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         1            imposition of the fees was revenue neutral

         2            to AWB.  Those at AWB responsible for

         3            making the payments to Alia therefore had

         4            little reason to focus on them closely.

         5

         6       Can I ask you about those two sentences, that the

         7       imposition of the fees was revenue neutral and therefore

         8       those at AWB responsible for making the payments to Alia

         9       had little reason to focus on them closely.  When did you

        10       learn that AWBI had paid US$300,000 to Ronly so that Ronly

        11       could act as a conduit for the payment of $1.5 million

        12       worth of inland transportation fees to Alia?

        13       A.   In the course of this inquiry.

        14

        15       Q.   So not before the public hearings of this inquiry?

        16       A.   Not before the public hearings of this inquiry.

        17

        18       Q.   This was expenditure of $300,000 of growers' money, in

        19       US dollars --

        20       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        21

        22       Q.   -- not the expenditure of money obtained from the

        23       escrow account, not Iraqi money.  Do you say you were never

        24       told about that until you heard it in evidence in public

        25       hearings of this inquiry?

        26       A.   That's correct.  The fact that it was a $300,000

        27       payment, and leaving aside where it went to for a moment,

        28       would be covered under the delegated authorities to the

        29       management team at the company.  So a payment of $300,000

        30       in the context of a business turning over billions of

        31       dollars a year wouldn't have made its way to the board.

        32

        33       Q.   Of course, if that's all it was, Mr Stewart, one

        34       wouldn't have expected you to know about that, or even if

        35       it was $3m, or dare I say perhaps $30m?

        36       A.   That's correct.

        37

        38       Q.   But it was a $300,000 payment made as a commission for

        39       the purpose of effecting a payment of a trucking fee, a

        40       matter which had been under investigation - that is, the

        41       trucking fee and the payments of kickbacks, and the like -

        42       since 2003.  It's not until public hearings in this inquiry

        43       that you learnt about that fact?

        44       A.   That's correct.

        45

        46       Q.   You say in the next paragraph:

        47
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         1            ...the 661 Committee considered the general

         2            question of trucking fees in April 2001, at

         3            roughly the time AWB started to pay the

         4            higher trucking fees.

         5

         6       Were you aware that the 10 per cent and the increase in the

         7       trucking fee had actually occurred for the first time in

         8       October of 2000 --

         9       A.   No, I was not.

        10

        11       Q.   -- six months before the 661 Committee considered the

        12       general question of trucking fees?

        13       A.   No, I wasn't.

        14

        15       Q.   The information that we read in this letter on that

        16       topic, where did it come from, "the 661 Committee

        17       considered the general question of trucking fees in April

        18       2001, at roughly the time AWB started to pay the higher

        19       trucking fees"?

        20       A.   Look, I can't be specific about where that came from.

        21       I assume it came from information within the company or

        22       from the advisers who were helping draft the response.

        23

        24       Q.   Are we then safe in inferring that, to the extent to

        25       which this letter contains positive information about what

        26       AWB did, and information about what AWB knew and did not

        27       know, you do not claim authorship of that material?

        28       A.   That's correct.

        29

        30       Q.   To the extent to which you are seen to be the author

        31       of it, you say that was because it was information provided

        32       to you?

        33       A.   It's information provided to me, and I sought

        34       assurance as to its accuracy before I signed the letter.

        35       I mean, as a non-executive chairman, I would never be in

        36       the position to be able to have all of this information

        37       available to me, and given the gravity of the proposed

        38       findings, I think it was fair and reasonable for me to

        39       co-sign a letter with the managing director to demonstrate

        40       that this was the state of the board's knowledge at the

        41       time when the letter was signed.  Now, as I said earlier,

        42       knowing what I know now, I would not have signed this

        43       letter.

        44

        45       Q.   Mr Long had, on 4 October, faxed Mr Hargreaves and

        46       Ms Thompson a fax which made plain that Alia had not

        47       provided any trucking services.  Had you been told that?



            .6/3/06 (40)               4012     B J STEWART (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   I don't know that that really, in the context of where

         2       we were at at the time, made that much difference, because

         3       the IIC committee itself had already made that

         4       determination, so that wasn't new information at that

         5       particular time.

         6

         7       Q.   But had you been told that?

         8       A.   I had been told by some of our advisers that that

         9       information had come to light.

        10

        11       Q.   Did you circularise the 26 September 2005 letter to

        12       senior management?

        13       A.   The letter from Mr Morden?

        14

        15       Q.   Yes, the letter which outlined what the prospective

        16       findings might be?

        17       A.   I'm not sure whether the managing director circulated

        18       it to his executive team or not.  I certainly circulated it

        19       to the board.

        20

        21       Q.   Would you have expected it to be circulated to the

        22       executive team?

        23       A.   I would assume that it was, in the purpose of

        24       gathering information for the response, but I couldn't be

        25       sure about that.

        26

        27       Q.   Wouldn't you have expected it to have been circulated

        28       to the executive management?

        29       A.   Look, I don't know that I can speculate about that.  I

        30       mean, I would have expected it to be circulated to the

        31       board, that the managing director had it.  It's up to the

        32       managing director as to where he circulates it within his

        33       management team.  But certainly the board and our advisers

        34       at the time actually had the letter; there's no doubt about

        35       that.

        36

        37       Q.   Now, you refer in your statement to an advice or an

        38       expert opinion that had been obtained from

        39       Sir Anthony Mason.  Did you have any part in putting

        40       together the foundation material that was provided to

        41       Sir Anthony to assist him in providing his expert opinion?

        42       A.   No, I did not.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you know who did?

        45       A.   No, I don't.

        46

        47       Q.   Do you know how that expert opinion came to be sought?
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         1       A.   I'm not sure of the circumstances under which it was,

         2       but there was no doubt that that opinion was relayed to the

         3       board on the day that the board considered the letter of

         4       26 September.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   No claim for legal professional

         7       privilege for this one?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   That was disclosed to government, sent to the

        10       Prime Minister --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   I realise that.  You've had it for some

        13       time.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It's dated 24 October 2005.  When was it

        18       that the board considered the letter from the IIC of

        19       26 September 2005?

        20       A.   We first considered it at the end of September, I

        21       believe, when it was first received, and subsequent to that

        22       we visited New York and met with Mr Volcker and his

        23       colleagues and then the board reconsidered issues at the

        24       later meeting in October prior to finalising the letter to

        25       the Volcker committee I think of about 25 October.

        26

        27       Q.   The letter to the Volcker committee, the final

        28       submission, is dated 25 October 2005.  I take it

        29       Sir Anthony's expert opinion was available on 24 October

        30       2005, was it?

        31       A.   Yes, I believe it was.

        32

        33       Q.   We have it with a fax marking of 26 October 2005 at

        34       4.49pm, but do you say that it was available before

        35       26 October 2005?

        36       A.   My recollection is that the board had the written

        37       advice at the meeting.  It may have been in a draft form

        38       that was later confirmed, but we certainly had it at that

        39       meeting.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender that advice -

        42       it's an expert opinion - AWB.0338.0150 through to 0174.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   In our submission, Commissioner, this advice

        45       ought to remain as a confidential exhibit.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   It was prepared, quite obviously, as an expert

         3       opinion by Sir Anthony.  It may be that criticism is made

         4       of the factual matrix underlying it, and no doubt my friend

         5       has already started on that process by asking this witness

         6       whether or not he had any part in the factual matrix, but

         7       as an attachment to a letter to Mr Vaile and the Prime

         8       Minister, the inquiry by this Commission is not assisted by

         9       having this as a public exhibit.  It should remain

        10       confidential.  It was obviously intended to be so.  That's

        11       our submission.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't see any reason why it should

        14       remain confidential, Mr Judd.  It will be exhibit 504.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #504 EXPERT OPINION OF SIR ANTHONY MASON,

        17       BARCODED AWB.0338.0150-0174

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You say in your statement, Mr Stewart, in

        20       paragraph 183, that on 26 October Mr Lindberg and yourself

        21       sent letters to each of the Prime Minister, Minister Downer

        22       and Minister Vaile enclosing this expert opinion, and that

        23       those letters also summarised the likely findings of the

        24       Volcker Inquiry.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0338.0147.

        25       Could we go to 0149.  If we scroll to the bottom of 0149, I

        26       think we see your signature and Mr Lindberg's signature.

        27       A.   That's correct.

        28

        29       Q.   If we go back to 0147, would you confirm that this is

        30       a copy of the letter that you wrote to the Prime Minister

        31       on 26 October 2005?

        32       A.   It's a letter that was drafted for me to sign, along

        33       with the managing director, to a letter to the Prime

        34       Minister.

        35

        36       Q.   And it is a copy of the one that was sent?

        37       A.   I believe it is.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   That was AWB.0338.0147 through to and inclusive

        40       of 0149.  I tender that, Mr Commissioner.

        41

        42       EXHIBIT #505 COPY OF LETTER SIGNED BY MR STEWART AND

        43       MR LINDBERG, SENT TO THE PRIME MINISTER ON 26/10/2005,

        44       BARCODED AWB.0338.0147-0149

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We have a copy of a similar letter to

        47       Mr Downer.  Could we bring up DFT.0001.0459.  Again, if we
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         1       go to 0461, that appears to be a copy of your signature?

         2       A.   It is.  I believe that's a signature of mine that's an

         3       electronic signature that's held in the office.

         4

         5       Q.   We have obtained this from the Department of Foreign

         6       Affairs and Trade.  This appears to be a copy of a letter

         7       that was sent to Minister Downer on 26 October in the same

         8       terms as the letter to the Prime Minister; would you agree

         9       with that?

        10       A.   That appears to be correct.

        11

        12       EXHIBIT #506 COPY OF LETTER SIGNED BY MR STEWART AND

        13       MR LINDBERG, SENT TO MINISTER DOWNER ON 26/10/2005,

        14       BARCODED DFT.0001.0459

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Finally, if we go to AWB.0338.0141, this

        17       is a similar letter in the same terms which went to the

        18       Deputy Prime Minister, Mr Vaile, on 26 October 2005.  If we

        19       go to 0143, again, shall I say facsimiles of your signature

        20       and Mr Lindberg's?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I tender that.

        24

        25       EXHIBIT #507 COPY OF LETTER SIGNED BY MR STEWART AND

        26       MR LINDBERG, SENT TO DEPUTY PRIME MINISTER VAILE ON

        27       26/10/2005, BARCODED AWB.0338.0141

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In each of those letters - this letter

        30       will suffice, if we go to the first page - there's a

        31       statement in the third-last paragraph:

        32

        33            From the summary provided to us, it is

        34            clear that the Committee has not found any

        35            evidence of illegality which accords with

        36            AWB's own internal investigations.

        37

        38       Which internal investigations were you referring to in this

        39       letter at that point?

        40       A.   That would be the Project Rose investigation.

        41

        42       Q.   So did you have an expression of opinion from the

        43       Project Rose team that there was no evidence of illegality?

        44       A.   I continued to be reassured.

        45

        46       Q.   Even as at 26 October 2005?

        47       A.   That's correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   That there'd been no illegality?

         3       A.   That's correct.

         4

         5       Q.   By now, weren't you starting to question that advice?

         6       A.   No, I wasn't, because, again, I relied on the process

         7       that had been put in place and the fact that it was, to my

         8       belief, well resourced and had external advice from, by

         9       this stage, not only two external legal firms, but I think

        10       four or five by this stage, both in the United States and

        11       in Australia, and I felt assured from the advice that I was

        12       getting that these letters that I was putting my name to

        13       were factually correct.

        14

        15       Q.   Four or five legal firms is a considerable extension

        16       on what we've learnt so far.  You had your current

        17       solicitors, Arnold Bloch Leibler --

        18       A.   Well, originally there was Blake Dawson Waldron and

        19       MinterEllison engaged in the assistance with Project Rose.

        20       Later in the process in relation to the IIC inquiries and

        21       proposed findings - sorry, inquiries of the United States

        22       jurisdictions we engaged ABL and two firms from the US.

        23       One I think is Piper Rudnick and the other I just can't

        24       recall the name of it.

        25

        26       Q.   The two American firms, or the two firms in the US,

        27       didn't have access to all of your databases and all of your

        28       documents, did they?

        29       A.   I'm not sure what they had access to.

        30

        31       Q.   But you've no doubt that Blake Dawson Waldron and

        32       Minter Ellison and ABL did?

        33       A.   Look, I couldn't answer that question.  I know that

        34       certainly Mr Quennell from Blakes, I was told, had access

        35       to all of those issues.

        36

        37       Q.   With the greatest of respect to Sir Anthony, no doubt

        38       it would have dawned on you that an expert opinion from no

        39       matter how eminent an expert is only as good as the facts

        40       upon which it is based are true or complete; would you

        41       agree with that?

        42       A.   Oh, that's correct.

        43

        44       Q.   Have you had an opportunity to go back through

        45       Sir Anthony's report, his opinion, to look and to determine

        46       whether or not the material which he was given upon which

        47       to base his opinion was complete?
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         1       A.   I've re-read his advice, but I don't think I'm in a

         2       position to say whether the information he based his

         3       opinion on is complete, because I simply don't know what he

         4       was given.

         5

         6       Q.   Is there anybody within AWB who would know what

         7       Sir Anthony was given?

         8       A.   I'm not sure whether he was briefed by internal

         9       counsel or whether he was briefed by external advisers.

        10

        11       Q.   Do you know whether AWB holds a copy of any brief that

        12       was delivered to Sir Anthony?

        13       A.   I couldn't answer that question, Mr Agius.

        14

        15       Q.   No doubt you would be in a position to have an answer

        16       to that if you had some time --

        17       A.   I could potentially find that out.

        18

        19       Q.   -- make some inquiries?  Is there a claim of legal

        20       professional privilege in relation to the material that was

        21       provided to Sir Anthony for his expert opinion?

        22       A.   I think there would be.

        23

        24       Q.   Why do you think that?

        25       A.   Well, I'd have to take advice on it.  Like, I couldn't

        26       answer the question, but I believe that it's quite

        27       possible.

        28

        29       Q.   It's a matter about which you want to take advice; is

        30       that what you mean?

        31       A.   I think I would take advice on that.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you know whether or not Sir Anthony was told of the

        34       circumstances in which the first payment came to be made to

        35       Alia?

        36       A.   I don't know what Sir Anthony was told at all,

        37       Mr Agius.

        38

        39       Q.   So you don't know whether he was given the emails that

        40       we saw earlier today which date from 1999?

        41       A.   No, I don't.

        42

        43       Q.   You know nothing about what Sir Anthony was told; is

        44       that what your evidence is?

        45       A.   That's correct.

        46

        47       Q.   Given that you and AWB sought to rely upon
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         1       Sir Anthony's expert opinion when he forwarded that opinion

         2       to the Prime Minister, the Deputy Prime Minister and the

         3       Minister for Foreign Affairs, do you not think that,

         4       accepting as you do that an opinion is only as good as the

         5       facts upon which it is based are true or accurate or

         6       complete, that material that went to Sir Anthony ought to

         7       be made public?

         8       A.   Can you just repeat the question?

         9

        10       Q.   If there's any possibility that Sir Anthony was

        11       misled - I don't mean intentionally misled or deceitfully

        12       misled, but if he was misled as to any of the facts - do

        13       you not think it important that the facts upon which his

        14       opinion is based ought to be made public?

        15       A.   I'm not sure that I can answer the question, sir.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I object on the basis that it's

        18       not really a question that this witness can answer in any

        19       useful way.  It's a matter of conjecture, it's a matter

        20       that every citizen might have a view about, it's a matter

        21       which you, sir, might form a view about in the

        22       consideration of the issues.  But it's not helpful, in our

        23       submission, to ask this witness for his view other than as

        24       member of the ordinary community.  He's been asked about

        25       the brief and the background facts and he's indicated that

        26       he'll seek advice on that matter, and no doubt he will.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you in a position to tell me what

        29       that advice will be?

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Well, sir, it depends on whether he's prudent

        32       enough to seek my advice or chooses to go elsewhere.  He

        33       may be sick of my advice at this stage, insofar as it bears

        34       upon any of these issues.  The question arises, of course,

        35       as to whether the disclosure of advice has the effect of

        36       waiving privilege in a relevant sense in relation to the

        37       instruction.  We'll give that matter some consideration

        38       and --

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would have thought, on the face of

        41       it, it does.

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   If it does, it does.  We're not here to cavil

        44       about a claim which can't properly be maintained.  If it

        45       can't, it can't, and so be it.  We're not going to seek to

        46       pursue a claim which is not appropriate and can't be

        47       justified, if necessary, in another place.



            .6/3/06 (40)               4019     B J STEWART (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   You might tell us that in the morning,

         3       Mr Judd, if you're the person who's consulted.  If you're

         4       not, then perhaps Mr Stewart will tell us.

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   If I am.

         7

         8       THE WITNESS:   Certainly, Commissioner.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   I should say I had the privilege of

        11       reading with Sir Anthony.  One of the first things he told

        12       me was that before you give an advice it's important to

        13       know the facts clearly.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   Yes.  We're aware of the first matter and

        16       commonly understand the second.  Thank you, sir.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It's apparent to you, is it not,

        19       Mr Stewart, that Sir Anthony relies upon a number of

        20       factual matters which are not consistent with material

        21       which has emerged in the course of this inquiry.

        22       A.   I'm not sure that I can answer that either, Mr Agius,

        23       without having a look at the advice again.  I try to

        24       remember as much as I can, but I can't remember an advice

        25       from Sir Anthony word for word, but I understand it dealt

        26       with issues surrounding the issue of knowing versus

        27       unknowing and what constituted knowledge of the company,

        28       and I think it also referred to the issue of whether in

        29       fact ownership or knowledge of ownership of Alia - I think

        30       I recall correctly it related to those issues.

        31

        32       Q.   Until we get a resolution of whether there will be a

        33       claim for legal professional privilege in the material that

        34       was provided to Sir Anthony I don't want to spend too much

        35       time on this, but given that the advice was proffered to

        36       the Prime Minister, Deputy Prime Minister and the Minister

        37       for Foreign Affairs, and given that AWB relied upon that

        38       advice in its dealings with the government and seeks, by

        39       reference in your statement to it, I imagine to rely upon

        40       it again, there are one or two matters in it that I need to

        41       take you to.  If we could go to AWB.0338.0150, at 0160,

        42       paragraph 24, the second sentence, Sir Anthony says:

        43

        44            Accepting that the delivery of the

        45            foodstuffs by AWB was strictly for

        46            humanitarian purposes, a fact which seems

        47            to be uncontested, the making of payments
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         1            to a legitimate transport company which

         2            provided a genuine service to enable food

         3            to be delivered from a port to a

         4            governorate in Iraq could also be "strictly

         5            for humanitarian purposes unless the

         6            payments contravened the resolutions in

         7            some way".

         8

         9       Just dealing with that sentence, it's apparent that Alia

        10       never provided a genuine service to enable food to be

        11       delivered from Umm Qasr to all governorates of Iraq so far

        12       as AWB's wheat was concerned, is it not?

        13       A.   That's what the IIC investigation found.

        14

        15       Q.   That's what Alia has said in its statement to Mr Long

        16       and its statement to the IIC and its statement before this

        17       inquiry?

        18       A.   I believe that's the case.

        19

        20       Q.   If we go to page 0165, paragraph 38:

        21

        22            IGB informed AWB, in late 1999, that Alia

        23            would provide the required inland

        24            transportation services.

        25

        26       Have you been able to identify any statement anywhere where

        27       the IGB informed the AWB that Alia would provide the

        28       required inland transportation services?

        29       A.   I personally haven't, sir.  I'm not sure whether

        30       anybody else has.

        31

        32       Q.   Do you know of any such statement in any of the

        33       evidence?

        34       A.   I personally don't, no.

        35

        36       Q.   The next sentence:

        37

        38            Alia's office was located in Jordan and

        39            payments from AWB were remitted directly to

        40            Alia.

        41

        42       Then there's a footnote:

        43

        44            In some of the initial contracts AWB paid

        45            the fees to the shipping agents who paid it

        46            to Alia but this step was phased out and

        47            AWB paid Alia directly.
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         1

         2       Do you know whether or not Sir Anthony was told that, in an

         3       effort to remove AWB from the payment of the fees, the fees

         4       were paid to Ronly upon commission for Ronly to transfer

         5       the fees to Alia?

         6       A.   I've already stated, Mr Agius, I don't know what

         7       Sir Anthony was told.

         8

         9       Q.   Paragraph 39, the second sentence:

        10

        11            IGB arranged for the inland delivery of the

        12            wheat directly with Alia...

        13

        14       Are you aware of any evidence at all that establishes that?

        15       A.   Not personally I'm not, sir, no.

        16

        17       Q.   Paragraph 40:

        18

        19            AWB believed that Alia's transport

        20            activities were necessarily visible to the

        21            UN contractor, Cotecna, which monitored the

        22            shipment of the wheat and other commodities

        23            through Umm Qasr.

        24

        25       Do you know who it was in AWB at any relevant time who held

        26       the belief that Alia was actually conducting the transport

        27       activities at Umm Qasr?

        28       A.   Well, my understanding is that that was a belief that

        29       was widely held by a number of people, but there's

        30       obviously now contrary evidence to say that there was

        31       people who had knowledge that it was other than that.

        32

        33       Q.   Indeed, the people who had negotiated with the IGB?

        34       A.   Well, that's what it would appear from the evidence,

        35       sir.

        36

        37       Q.   Then paragraph 43, if we go over the page:

        38

        39            AWB does not ordinarily investigate the

        40            identity of third party suppliers or

        41            service providers.

        42

        43       Is that so?

        44       A.   Look, I couldn't - I couldn't tell you what due

        45       diligence was done on the ownership structures and share

        46       holdings of third party service providers.  I wouldn't

        47       believe that it would be a normal part of the business.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you know that a great deal of due diligence was

         3       done before a selection was made of who it would be that

         4       would transport the wheat within Iraq after the invasion of

         5       Iraq and once AWB took on a real and practical

         6       responsibility for delivery of the wheat?

         7       A.   I don't know what level of due diligence was done,

         8       sir.  That would be operational issues that the board would

         9       not normally get involved in.  Those issues and

        10       responsibilities are delegated to management.

        11

        12       Q.   Indeed, if we go further through that paragraph:

        13

        14            AWB had no reason to believe that IGB (with

        15            whom it had been doing business for

        16            50 years) would nominate a "front company"

        17            for transport services.

        18

        19       Indeed, you're now aware, aren't you, that there is

        20       evidence that the IGB nominated Alia as the company to

        21       receive fees which were payable to it, the IGB?

        22       A.   Well, that appears to be the evidence that's been

        23       presented, sir.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, this is all very interesting, but

        26       it's really a matter of comment, in our submission.  It may

        27       be that simply to have this witness concede what the

        28       evidence obviously is in relation to various of these

        29       factual matters contained in the advice or advocacy of some

        30       sort that seems to be incorporated into the advice really

        31       doesn't take the matter very far.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I wouldn't be doing this if

        34       there was some statement to be found in Mr Stewart's

        35       statement that the AWB now accepted that they could not

        36       rely on this expert opinion because of the difference in

        37       the factual material that was provided to Sir Anthony Mason

        38       compared with such material as is now available.

        39

        40       THE WITNESS:   I'm not sure how I could make that

        41       statement, Mr Agius, without actually knowing those facts.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   No doubt it's a matter you can look into

        44       overnight, Mr Stewart.

        45       A.   I'm sure we will.

        46

        47       Q.   If that statement can be made, it could be made
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         1       tomorrow.  It may be in everybody's interests.  I'll leave

         2       that matter until tomorrow and take up some other matters

         3       with you from this statement.  We have seen before this

         4       inquiry two release documents, one a contract being a

         5       release between AWB and Mr Officer and another one in

         6       similar terms, relevantly, a release between AWB and

         7       Mr Emons.  Each of them refers to an acknowledgment by the

         8       board and by the managing director.  Were you aware of

         9       those releases before they were signed?

        10       A.   No, I was not.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you ever offer the acknowledgment that's referred

        13       to in either of those releases, either on your own behalf

        14       or on behalf of the board?

        15       A.   No, I did not.

        16

        17       Q.   Are you aware as to whether or not the board, as a

        18       board, had ever offered the acknowledgment that's referred

        19       to in the releases?

        20       A.   I don't believe that's the case.

        21

        22       Q.   If we bring up exhibit 97, WST.0002.0026, if we go to

        23       paragraph 7, this is the release between Mr Emons and AWB

        24       Limited.  If we go to the last paragraph:

        25

        26            AWB acknowledges that it (by its Board and

        27            Chief Executive Officer) authorised agency

        28            payments during the period --

        29

        30       which is set out --

        31

        32            to overseas agents for sales.

        33

        34       Leaving aside the acknowledgment - we've dealt with that -

        35       was it the case that the payments that were made as agency

        36       payments were authorised?

        37       A.   Authorised by whom, sir?

        38

        39       Q.   Authorised by anybody within AWB?

        40       A.   I couldn't answer the question.  If you look at the

        41       dates that this refers to, I actually only came on to the

        42       board in March of the year 2000.

        43

        44       Q.   So from your own knowledge you're not able to say?

        45       A.   I couldn't tell you that.

        46

        47       Q.   May I take it that this has not been the subject of
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         1       any investigation the results of which have been passed to

         2       you?

         3       A.   By the board?

         4

         5       Q.   By anybody?

         6       A.   Not that I'm aware of, sir.

         7

         8       Q.   So you haven't discussed that issue with Mr Lindberg

         9       since it was raised in this inquiry?

        10       A.   I've had a brief discussion with him about these

        11       issues.  I must say, though, since the calling of this

        12       inquiry, I've been very careful about what discussions I've

        13       had with people, as you'd well understand, I'm sure.

        14

        15       Q.   I'm not raising that with you to criticise you,

        16       Mr Stewart.  This is not a court and the fact that people

        17       might speak amongst themselves is rather more to be

        18       expected than to be criticised.  Have you spoken to

        19       Mr Lindberg about the statement in this release concerning

        20       the reference and acknowledgment that AWB, by its board and

        21       chief executive officer, authorised the agency payments?

        22       A.   No, I haven't spoken to him on the specifics of that

        23       particular issue, but all I would say in relation to that

        24       is that anything that refers directly to the board should

        25       be approved by the board as a matter of policy.

        26

        27       Q.   In your statement, at paragraph 47, you refer to the

        28       February 2001 Hogan and Borlase trip report.  You say you

        29       first read the February 2001 trip report in December 2005

        30       following a conference with AWB lawyers and you were also

        31       provided with the May 2003 trip report of Mr Whitwell and

        32       Mr Edmonds-Wilson at that time.  They're exhibits 74C and

        33       79C, each confidential.  Did you know about the existence

        34       of the February 2001 trip report by Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase

        35       before you saw it in December 2005?

        36       A.   No, I did not.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you know about the substance of it as it related

        39       to trucking fees or services fees or aftersales service

        40       fees?

        41       A.   No, I didn't.

        42

        43       Q.   Similarly, I ask you the same questions in relation to

        44       the trip report dated May 2003.  Did you know of its

        45       existence before December of 2005?

        46       A.   No, I didn't.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you know of the substance that it deals with on

         2       the subject of trucking fees?

         3       A.   No, I didn't.

         4

         5       Q.   In December of 2005, when you learnt of the existence

         6       and the substance of those documents, were you surprised

         7       that you hadn't been told of them before?

         8       A.   Yes, I was.

         9

        10       Q.   Would you have expected to have been briefed in

        11       relation to at least the Hogan/Borlase February 2001 trip

        12       report?

        13       A.   In relation to the project that had been undertaken, I

        14       would have expected that those issues, had they surfaced,

        15       would have been brought to the attention of the board.

        16

        17       Q.   Would you not have expected that something as basic as

        18       a trip report which related to any of the contracts that

        19       were the subject of the Volcker Inquiry - that trip reports

        20       ought to have been located and examined?

        21       A.   I would have thought that those would be the types of

        22       things that should have been looked at as part of the

        23       process.

        24

        25       Q.   Can I deal with the Tigris matter before we conclude

        26       for the afternoon.  What can you tell us was your first

        27       knowledge of AWB assisting Tigris to recoup a debt for

        28       wheat delivered in 1996?

        29       A.   My first knowledge was - in that level of detail was -

        30       I just want to be clear on this - the first time I heard of

        31       Tigris was in the December 2004, when there was mention by

        32       Mr Lindberg of an agenda item for the joint information

        33       session, which he said he felt he should brief the board

        34       about.  It was an information item.  It was at the

        35       subsequent meetings that followed that - at that joint

        36       information session that I first became aware of Tigris.

        37

        38       Q.   By that, are you referring to that portion of your

        39       statement that commences at paragraph 118?

        40       A.   I am.

        41

        42       Q.   You said at paragraph 96:

        43

        44            At the September 2003 board meeting there

        45            was no mention of the Tigris transaction.

        46            If we had been told then of a proposal for

        47            recovery of a third party debt for Tigris,
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         1            I've no doubt that it would have triggered

         2            a discussion about why a debt due to some

         3            third party was to be recovered from the

         4            Iraqis in priority over the Australian

         5            growers' outstanding 1991 Gulf War debt.

         6

         7       That was a debt of something over US$80m, was it not?

         8       A.   I think about 98 million, from my recollection.

         9

        10       Q.   When this Tigris issue was mentioned at the AWB board

        11       joint information session in December 2004, did anybody

        12       raise that same concern?

        13       A.   I can't recall specifically whether that was raised as

        14       a concern at the time, but certainly it would have been

        15       something, had it been clear, that would have been raised

        16       I'm sure.  The Iraq debt issue had been an issue that had

        17       been bubbling away in the grower politics and as an

        18       obligation to try and recover that debt ever since it was

        19       incurred.

        20

        21       Q.   At paragraph 120 of your statement you say that at the

        22       joint information session Mr Cooper spoke to the boards

        23       concerning assistance given to Tigris in collection of the

        24       debt, you recall it was a short presentation of a few

        25       minutes, and then you relate the evidence as it's been

        26       given here that Mr Lindberg gave the presentation, and you

        27       say that's not your recollection but you believe

        28       Mr Lindberg introduced the topic that Mr Cooper spoke to.

        29       Is that still the state of your belief?

        30       A.   Yeah.  Look, I was aware that there'd been

        31       contradictory evidence, if you like, as to who gave the

        32       presentation at the join information session.  That's

        33       simply my recollection.  Now, it may or may not be exactly

        34       what happened, but that was my recollection of it.

        35

        36       Q.   What had Mr Lindberg said to you about this matter

        37       before the board joint information session?

        38       A.   Really simply that there was an issue that he needed

        39       to apprise the board of at the joint information session.

        40       That was essentially it.

        41

        42       Q.   Was this joint board information session called only

        43       to deal with the matter that Mr Lindberg wanted to raise?

        44       A.   No, no, quite the contrary.  In fact, joint

        45       information sessions are regular occurrences where the

        46       boards of both of the companies, AWB Limited and AWB

        47       International, come together purely for the presentation of
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         1       information items, normally not discussion, and it's really

         2       an efficiency measure where there's presentations that need

         3       to go to both boards so they don't have to be repeated.

         4

         5       Q.   So it was really, as you understood it, Mr Lindberg

         6       taking advantage of the pre-arranged board joint

         7       information session to inform the joint boards in that

         8       session of the Tigris matter?

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   And you knew no more about it than that prior to the

        12       briefing that you received on 14 December 2004?

        13       A.   That's correct.

        14

        15       Q.   Do you say that, so far as your recollection is

        16       concerned, this was an information session and that the

        17       board was not being asked to approve anything?

        18       A.   That's right.

        19

        20       Q.   You were simply being told information?

        21       A.   That's correct.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you ever inquire as to why it was that the board

        24       hadn't been asked for approval before the matter was

        25       undertaken?

        26       A.   I believe that it was a reference to the fact that the

        27       issue fell within the delegated authorities of the managing

        28       director in terms of financial delegations and it wasn't

        29       necessary to have approval, and it was purely being

        30       presented as information for the board as to what had

        31       happened.

        32

        33       Q.   When you say you believe there was a reference to

        34       that, where do you believe there was that reference?

        35       A.   I think it was at the start of the presentation.

        36

        37       Q.   What was said, to the best of your recollection, on

        38       that topic?

        39       A.   Look, I think it was introduced as being, "Look,

        40       there's an issue we want to apprise the board of.  There's

        41       really very little substance to it of any concern, but

        42       we've essentially - I believe it's in my delegated

        43       authorities, but I just wanted to let the board know about

        44       it."

        45

        46       Q.   So that was a statement by Mr Lindberg, then, was it?

        47       A.   I believe it was.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did he have authority to sign

         3       cheques for US$7m?

         4       A.   He does have authority to sign cheques for that level.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Or approve payments.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And he had authority to commit the AWB to

         9       arrangements which would involve it recouping money on

        10       behalf of a third party to the value of US$7m or US$8m?

        11       A.   He certainly had authority to commit AWB to

        12       arrangements and agreements across a whole range of areas.

        13       The issue as to whether or not this specific arrangement

        14       was under the delegations or not - look, I think he took it

        15       that it was within the existing delegations.

        16

        17       Q.   Did he give you to believe that he had in fact

        18       approved this arrangement before it had occurred?

        19       A.   Well, my understanding of it now is that it had

        20       actually been something that had been talked about and

        21       discussed for many years.  I certainly wasn't aware of that

        22       particular point at the time.

        23

        24       Q.   At what point did Mr Lindberg claim that this was

        25       within his authority?

        26       A.   That would have been at the start of the joint

        27       information session, I believe, if my recollection serves

        28       me right.

        29

        30       Q.   Did he tell you that the arrangement, the initial

        31       agreement with Tigris to recoup this money, had been

        32       something of which he had approved?

        33       A.   No, I don't believe he did.  It's possible, but I

        34       can't recall that.

        35

        36       Q.   The evidence such as we have it doesn't disclose any

        37       involvement of Mr Lindberg in the initial negotiations with

        38       the IGB concerning the repayment of the Tigris debt.  The

        39       evidence as we have it would seem to indicate that, so far

        40       as AWB was concerned, the person who might be nominated as

        41       an initiator, as opposed to Mr Lindberg, was Mr Stott.  Did

        42       Mr Lindberg say anything to you on that topic?

        43       A.   No.

        44

        45       Q.   Did he say anything as to how it came about that AWB

        46       had agreed to assist Tigris to recover the debt?

        47       A.   I believe it was in the context that Tigris has
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         1       assisted AWB in relation to certain contracts in Iraq and,

         2       in return, they'd agreed to assist Tigris in recovery of

         3       the debt.

         4

         5       Q.   So you had not been told that the agreement to assist

         6       Tigris to recover the debt had pre-dated any assistance

         7       offered by Tigris to AWB?

         8       A.   That's right.  I was completely unaware of that.

         9

        10       Q.   If we bring up exhibit 40 - this is Mr Cooper's file

        11       note - EXH.0001.0032, Mr Cooper has claimed ownership of

        12       this note, Mr Stewart.  I will just give you a moment to

        13       read it.

        14       A.   Yes, Mr Agius.

        15

        16       Q.   There are a couple of crossings out that I want to ask

        17       you about.  I appreciate it's not your note, but about a

        18       quarter of the way down there's a crossing out of a dot

        19       point which, before it was struck through, appeared to read

        20       "Tigris - English owned".  Was anything said to that effect

        21       in the course of the briefing?

        22       A.   Look, I can't recall specifically whether it was or

        23       whether it wasn't, but that's what I understand it to be

        24       now.

        25

        26       Q.   Further down the page, about halfway down, "Tigris

        27       was", and the words "assigned a debt" are crossed out, and

        28       then the words "owed money" are left in.  Were you told how

        29       Tigris came to be interested in this debt?  Was it assigned

        30       to it or was it a direct debt owed to Tigris?

        31       A.   I can't recall specifically.

        32

        33       Q.

        34

        35            ...AWB agreed to assist Tigris in

        36            recovering its debt - no grower money

        37            expended.

        38            .  Debt was collected -  AWBI received

        39            USD1.3m.

        40            Payment by AWBI to Tigris.

        41

        42       Were you told that the payment to Tigris had been effected?

        43       A.   No, we weren't.

        44

        45       Q.   Are you definite about that?

        46       A.   I'm quite sure about that.

        47
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         1       Q.   This note records "Debt was collected".  Were you told

         2       of the manner in which the debt was collected?

         3       A.   No, I don't believe we were.

         4

         5       Q.   In particular, as we now know, were you told that the

         6       debt was collected by inflating the price of wheat in

         7       contracts so that, in effect, the disclosed price for wheat

         8       in those contracts related to the real price of wheat in

         9       those contracts plus an additional amount to cover the

        10       Tigris debt?

        11       A.   No, we weren't told of that level of detail.

        12

        13       Q.   But you were told that the AWB had collected the debt

        14       from the Iraqis?

        15       A.   That's correct.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you think how that might have been possible, given

        18       the UN sanctions that applied at the time?

        19       A.   I don't think, in the context that this was given,

        20       Mr Agius, that I actually turned my mind to that issue at

        21       the time.  I've certainly given it some consideration

        22       since, but at the particular time, and the way in which

        23       this issue was presented to the board, it didn't cause me

        24       to turn my mind to that particular issue at that time.

        25

        26       Q.   Did anybody ask any questions along those lines?

        27       A.   Look, I think there was some discussion, and I note

        28       the comments on the bottom of this note which I've

        29       obviously seen before.  I don't think that I can recall any

        30       specific reference by any director going to that particular

        31       point that you raise.  This was delivered during a joint

        32       information session.  It wasn't a decision item and it

        33       wasn't required to have a decision.  It was presented as,

        34       "This is something that's happened and this is what

        35       happened."

        36

        37       Q.   I appreciate that, Mr Stewart.  I'm just trying to

        38       flesh out such issues as did arise during the course of

        39       this meeting.  Were you told how much the debt was?

        40       A.   I don't recall being told exactly what the debt was,

        41       no.  It's possible, but I don't recall it.

        42

        43       Q.   It's not recorded in Mr Cooper's note, as best as I

        44       can determine.  It's not recorded in Ms Scales' note, and

        45       it's not recorded in Mr Fuller's note, and when I go to the

        46       board minutes it's not recorded there.  Might it be that

        47       you were not told how much the debt was, in effect the
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         1       board didn't know whether it was $7m or $8m, or $70m or

         2       $80m?

         3       A.   That's probably the correct recollection, I think.

         4

         5       Q.   And, to the best of your recollection, nobody asked?

         6       A.   I believe that's the case.

         7

         8       Q.   So it would seem that the board wasn't told how much

         9       the debt was and it wasn't told how the debt had been

        10       recouped, and it hadn't been told that the money had

        11       already been paid to Tigris.  Those topics would all be

        12       very good topics for a paper on this Tigris transaction,

        13       and Mr Simpson asked for one.

        14       A.   I believe that's right.

        15

        16       Q.   What's the best of your recollection as to what

        17       happened to that request for the paper on the transaction?

        18       A.   My recollection is that there were subsequent

        19       discussions at the board meeting the next day, there was a

        20       reassurance that - of all the issues that I've spoken about

        21       in terms of being within the delegated authorities and that

        22       there'd been advice received as to whether or not, having

        23       received the money - and it had already been received - it

        24       was legal and proper to pay it out.  And that that advice

        25       and subsequent discussion --

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   I just caution the witness not to go into the

        28       advice to maintain privilege.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Oh, yes.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   I think we already know there was advice

        33       obtained as to whether or not it was lawful to pay the

        34       money out, but we just don't know what that advice was.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   Correct.  The existence of the advice is a

        37       different thing.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You understand, Mr Stewart, that not only

        40       have you prevented yourself from giving us that advice, or

        41       the substance of it, by making the decision for which I --

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   No, I object to that.  He's not prevented

        44       himself.  This is a decision of the board we're talking

        45       about not of Mr Stewart.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   No, of course not.  No doubt a decision
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         1       you voted upon, Mr Stewart, and I'm not going to ask you

         2       how you voted.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Salvation says it was unanimous -

         5       twice.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I'm not trying to go behind the decision

         8       that's been made that you not reveal your legal

         9       professional privilege; do you understand that.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   Perhaps I can join the general mirth and say

        12       that's exactly what my friend is trying to do.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Not at all.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Anyway, let's get on.

        17

        18       THE WITNESS:   To come back to your question, though,

        19       Mr Agius, my understanding is that, following subsequent

        20       discussions, there was an acceptance that it probably

        21       wasn't necessary to have the paper.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We have seen a management meeting minute

        24       from a management meeting of AWBI that occurred in January

        25       of the next year wherein there is a reference, as an action

        26       point, to the preparation of just such a report, and that

        27       was assigned to Mr Cooper for him to do.  Do you know

        28       whether or not, after your meeting on 15 December 2004,

        29       anybody else within AWB, not a member of the board, was

        30       informed that there was no longer any need to prepare such

        31       a report?

        32       A.   Well, normally what would happen when the board

        33       decides it wants a paper or a presentation or something

        34       like that, it would then appear on the action list, unless

        35       subsequent to the original discussion there was a further

        36       decision that no longer required it to go there.  That's

        37       why I believe my recollection is that, at a later stage, it

        38       was accepted not to go ahead with the paper and therefore

        39       it didn't.

        40

        41       Q.   What happened to the issues that weren't the subject

        42       of a briefing on 14 December, the matters we've

        43       identified - that is, the size of the debt that had been

        44       recovered, how the debt had been recovered, whether or not

        45       the debt had been paid by AWB to Tigris?  Those matters

        46       hadn't been determine and hadn't been the subject of

        47       information on 14 December.  Did you get information about
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         1       those matters on 15 December?

         2       A.   I don't believe we did.

         3

         4       Q.   Who gave the assurances that you've spoken of on

         5       15 December?

         6       A.   I believe that was the managing director.

         7

         8       Q.   Who had been present the day before?

         9       A.   That would be right.

        10

        11       Q.   In what connection were those assurances given,

        12       Mr Stewart?  Did somebody ask for them, or how did the

        13       matter arise on the 15th?

        14       A.   I think it was raised again as, "Look, this issue that

        15       we spoke about yesterday is" - the issue centred around the

        16       appropriateness of paying the money out of the pool once it

        17       had been received.  That's really what the discussion was

        18       about.  The board was essentially presented with something

        19       that had already happened.  Having received the money, we

        20       wanted to ensure that it was actually appropriate to pay it

        21       out.  That was the advice, and that was the basis of the

        22       discussion.

        23

        24       Q.   So this question of - I don't want to know what the

        25       advice was - the issue of whether or not the AWB or the

        26       AWBI had advice on the legality of paying out the money,

        27       that wasn't raised until 15 December?

        28       A.   I can't recall whether it was raised at the original

        29       meeting.  I thought it was raised at the joint information

        30       session as well, the issue of the advice.

        31

        32       Q.   Well, if it was raised on the 14th at the joint

        33       information session, in what context did Mr Lindberg give

        34       assurances that the matter had been dealt with within

        35       authority and that, in effect, there was no need for a

        36       further paper?

        37       A.   Well, I think the board took Mr Lindberg obviously at

        38       his word that that was the case.

        39

        40       Q.   Yet the day before members of the board had raised

        41       cautionary flags about it, hadn't they?  Hadn't Mr Thame

        42       said words to the effect, "We are now tainted", and hadn't

        43       there been a statement made on the 14th about James Hardy

        44       and that this was a classic example, and hadn't there been

        45       statements about mood in the market place?

        46       A.   I can't recall those comments being made.  I must

        47       admit I was surprised when I heard that they were part of
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         1       the evidence presented to this inquiry.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, we see that at the bottom of the page of

         4       Mr Cooper's notes he records, "John Simpson - wants paper

         5       on Tigris @ next Bd mtg - it seems extraordinary", and

         6       "John Thame - PR risk is high - don't rely on legal

         7       situation".  Could we bring up exhibit 344, AWB.0270.0024.

         8       This is Ms Scales' notes, "John Thame", and under that

         9       she's written:

        10

        11            Tigris chq thru AWBI account.  We are now

        12            tainted.

        13

        14       Then:

        15

        16            James Hardy classic eg.

        17

        18       Then an arrow with regard to mood in the market place.

        19       Then:

        20

        21            Question re Tigris Paper John Simpson think

        22            it is extraordinary and I am surprised.

        23

        24       The notes taken by two people independently would seem to

        25       strongly support the likelihood that comments to that

        26       effect were made.  You don't recall them.  You still don't

        27       recall them?

        28       A.   I don't recall the individual comments that were made

        29       in relation - as presented by these notes.  I'm not saying

        30       it didn't happen.  It's possible that it could have.  I

        31       wouldn't find it surprising if Mr Simpson had said

        32       something along the lines of, "I think it's extraordinary".

        33       I think he uses that word quite commonly.  I wouldn't find

        34       it surprising that Mr Thame would refer to potential issues

        35       in the media, because he often used to refer to issues,

        36       "Are you happy to read about these things on the front

        37       page?"

        38

        39       Q.   Not a bad test.

        40       A.   It's always a good test.

        41

        42       Q.   Now, we also have Mr Fuller's notes, WST.0016.0142.

        43       We've yet to have Mr Fuller's evidence in relation to this,

        44       and that's regrettable, but we will have it sometime

        45       tomorrow, I expect.  If we go to the middle of the page

        46       there's a heading "Tigris".  Then, under that, "AL", which

        47       may reflect that this was something said by Andrew
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         1       Lindberg:

         2

         3            Assist 1992.  Back to --

         4

         5       something --

         6

         7            Influence/lobbying.

         8            Lawyers comfortable.

         9            661/OFF --

        10

        11       arrow --

        12

        13            Clipped ticket Pool.

        14            Did not breach any laws.

        15

        16       Then beneath that, alongside the initials "WG" and "ID",

        17       which may be Wayne Gibson and Ian Donges:

        18

        19            How explain items of our accounts.

        20

        21       A.   "In terms of our accounts".

        22

        23       Q.   So:

        24

        25            How explain in terms of our accounts.

        26

        27       And under that:

        28

        29            How is it accounted for.

        30            WEA - should we tell them.

        31

        32       Alongside each of those comments are the words "to do".

        33       Now, does that assist your recollection?

        34       A.   No, it doesn't to any great extent.  I can't recall

        35       those particular comments, although I'm not saying they

        36       didn't happen, obviously, if there's a note from the

        37       company secretary.  I'm assuming - I haven't seen the top

        38       of this page - that that's probably in relation to the AWBI

        39       board meeting, given that those - it's hard to tell.  Those

        40       two particular directors' initials are directors of I,

        41       although it could have been at the joint information

        42       session.

        43

        44       Q.   If we go to the previous page, I think there's

        45       evidence that indicates you might be right about that.  If

        46       we go to WST.0016.0141, the heading is "AWB(I) 14 Dec 04

        47       Open:  2.45", and there is a reference there to the
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         1       directors of AWBI.  That would seem to be consistent with

         2       confidential exhibit 65C, which is the board minutes of

         3       AWBI.  But you would have been present during this board

         4       meeting, would you not?

         5       A.   I believe I probably would have been chairman of that

         6       meeting.

         7

         8       Q.   Yes.  And on 14 December do you have any recollection

         9       of issues being raised about explaining in terms of AWBI's

        10       accounts and how it was accounted for and whether the WEA

        11       should be told?

        12       A.   I don't have any recollection of it, but, again, if

        13       it's in the notes, I would have to say that it's more than

        14       likely that that discussion happened.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you know what happened?  Was a decision made as to

        17       whether the WEA should be told, or whether it should not be

        18       told?

        19       A.   No, I don't.  I don't recall that, sorry.

        20

        21       Q.   Do you know how the issue about how the matter should

        22       be explained in terms of the AWBI accounts was dealt with?

        23       A.   No, I don't specifically.  I mean, I can only think of

        24       it now in terms of if the money passed through the

        25       accounts, how would it be accounted for in the pool

        26       accounts.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, it seems that we have some evidence, from four

        29       directors, of concern about this Tigris matter when it was

        30       raised either at the AWBI board meeting or when it was

        31       raised at the joint information session.  One of them asked

        32       for a paper.  Then something happens and the paper is not

        33       produced and the matter goes away.  Surely you have some

        34       recollection as to how the matter was resolved?

        35       A.   As I said, Mr Agius, I actually don't.  I believe it

        36       really represents a context in which it was actually

        37       brought to the board.  It was an information item, it was

        38       presented as being within the delegated authorities, there

        39       was no decision required.  I think, had it been a decision

        40       item, it certainly would have sparked a great - basically

        41       more detail in terms of analysis by - certainly by myself,

        42       and certainly I would understand by the other directors.

        43       So it's in that context, I think, that it's understandable,

        44       although I think regrettable, that the board didn't look at

        45       it in a different light and turn its mind to it in a more

        46       detailed fashion.

        47
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         1       Q.   I follow what you say about it, if it had been a

         2       matter for decision, it might have attracted more

         3       attention, but isn't that the very reason why, given that

         4       it wasn't a matter for decision, and given that the board

         5       had not been consulted previously, it would have attracted

         6       even more attention on 14 and 15 December?

         7       A.   No, I don't believe that's the case.  If it had been a

         8       matter for decision, it would have been raised with me

         9       prior to going to the board meeting and the decision that

        10       was required would have been relayed to me during the

        11       briefings that I had with the managing director and the

        12       company secretary prior to each meeting.  I would have

        13       asked for - to be run through the issue on why the decision

        14       was required to be made.  Given that it was an information

        15       item, I don't go to that level of information with an

        16       information item.

        17

        18       Q.   What we know, on the evidence that we have from the

        19       WEA and the documents produced from it and from the AWB, is

        20       that it doesn't seem that the WEA was ever told about this

        21       matter.

        22       A.   Well, that's probably quite possible.  It would have

        23       been - I would believe it would probably only be told to

        24       the WEA if there was a negative impact on the pool.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I'll tender Mr Fuller's notes

        27       for 14 December 04.  There are four pages of them,

        28       WST.0016.0141.  I ask that they not be published, save for

        29       that portion of the notes that I've read on to the record,

        30       and that that portion alone be published at this stage.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll mark them exhibit 508.

        33

        34       EXHIBIT #508 MR FULLER'S NOTES (FOUR PAGES) FOR 14/12/04,

        35       BARCODED WST.0016.0141

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

        38       respect of the totality of the minutes except that portion

        39       which has been read on to the transcript.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Lindberg was asked about this,

        42       Mr Stewart, on 18 January and he was asked this - I'll give

        43       you the answer before:

        44

        45            A.   Well, I told the board what I have

        46            told this Commission, and that is that we

        47            assisted Tigris to recover a debt, that
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         1            I had been informed that Tigris had been

         2            helpful in assisting us achieve wheat sales

         3            into the market, we were going to receive a

         4            fee for the recovery of the money, it would

         5            be paid to the pool, and the agreement was

         6            struck in this form.

         7            Q.   Did you tell the board that AWB had

         8            recovered the Tigris debt by inflating the

         9            contract price of wheat?

        10            A.   I can't recall.  I can't recall.

        11            Q.   Well, think harder.

        12            A.   I believe I did, but I can't recall.

        13            Q.   You do believe you did?

        14            A.   Well, I believe I did, I can't recall.

        15            But I - but I knew that that was how it had

        16            occurred, I believe that I did.

        17            Q.   And did you tell the board that the

        18            United Nations had not been informed that

        19            the inflated price for wheat included a

        20            repayment of debt for Tigris?

        21            A.   I can't recall what I said in regard

        22            to that.

        23

        24       Do you stand by your evidence, Mr Stewart, that you weren't

        25       told that the debt had been recovered by inflating the

        26       contract price for wheat?

        27       A.   My recollection is that that's the case, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   Then I asked Mr Lindberg some questions about this on

        30       page 816:

        31

        32            Q.   What else did you say?

        33

        34       Perhaps I'll go back a bit.  I took Mr Lindberg to the

        35       minute of the board meeting.  I said:

        36

        37            Q.   If you go to page 3, there is the

        38            minute in relation to Tigris.  It begins

        39            with the board welcoming Mr Jim Cooper,

        40            general counsel, to the meeting and then

        41            the next paragraph reads:

        42

        43            "The Managing Director briefed the Board in

        44            relation to the Tigris transaction.  It was

        45            noted that Tigris had assisted AWB in

        46            recovering threatened wheat sales in Iraq

        47            in 2002; in consideration for that
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         1            assistance AWB had assisted Tigris in

         2            recovering a debt owed to Tigris by the

         3            Grains Board of Iraq; Tigris had paid a

         4            commission for the recovery of the debt and

         5            all of that commission was paid to AWB

         6            (International) Limited and therefore to

         7            growers."

         8

         9            Now, does that note accurately summarise

        10            what it was that you had said to the board

        11            during that meeting on this topic.

        12            A.   Well, I think I - I think I said more

        13            than that to them.

        14            Q.   What else did you say?

        15            A.   Well, I believe this is what I said -

        16            this is my recollection - that I did say to

        17            the board that I understood that Tigris -

        18            I was advised that Tigris had assisted AWB

        19            in its wheat sales; I told the board that

        20            we were - had assisted Tigris to recover

        21            the debt.  I believe I said we had done

        22            that by way of wheat contracts, and I can't

        23            precisely recall, but I believe that I did

        24            say it was by increasing the consideration

        25            in those wheat contracts and that we were

        26            being paid - that we would receive a fee

        27            for doing that, and that fee would be paid

        28            or should be paid to the pool.  So I think

        29            the minutes are slightly different than

        30            what I recall that I said to the board at

        31            the time, or to both boards at the time.

        32

        33       So he says that he believed that he said that the money had

        34       been recovered by way of wheat contracts.  What do you say

        35       to that?

        36       A.   Well, he may be right, Mr Agius, but I can't believe -

        37       I can't recall, sorry, hearing that at the time.

        38       Otherwise, if I had, I would have put it in my statement.

        39

        40       Q.   Would you not have also been concerned, if you'd heard

        41       that the debt had been raised by way of wheat contracts?

        42       A.   Well, I'm sure I would have been concerned, because

        43       I'm sure that would have sparked a question in my mind

        44       about if that's the way this debt has been recovered, why

        45       can't we recover the previous debt owed to the growers in

        46       the same way?

        47
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         1       Q.   Wouldn't you have wanted to know how the debt had been

         2       raised by way of wheat contracts?

         3       A.   If that had been said to me, I believe I would have.

         4

         5       Q.   Because you understand that contracts would normally

         6       reflect the price of wheat to which the contracts relate?

         7       A.   That's right.

         8

         9       Q.   So wouldn't you immediately think, "Well, how could we

        10       get this by way of wheat contracts for wheat that had

        11       previously been provided?"

        12       A.   My understanding is that the contracts - just to go

        13       back one step - often include the price of the wheat plus

        14       other built-in charges in relation to insurance, freight,

        15       shrinkage, and things like that, which are normal.  But

        16       this was certainly an abnormal thing.  Had I been aware of

        17       it, I'm sure that it would have sparked a question in my

        18       mind.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time, Mr Commissioner?

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Mr Judd, I've had a look at this

        23       memorandum from Ms McNickol.  It doesn't seem to me to be

        24       controversial, except as to paragraph 17.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   That causes me some surprise.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not sure that 17 follows from 16.

        29       I think that's the point you and I were debating this

        30       morning, you said you thought you had a case about it.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   Yes, we did think we'd found one, and we are

        33       continuing to look.  I think I said this morning that I at

        34       least thought it was unlikely, because of the way in which

        35       these issues often arise, that this kind of matter would

        36       have been formulated into a justiciable issue of some sort.

        37       This doesn't take the issue any further than what I

        38       advanced this morning.  It's not intended to.  It was just

        39       that I mentioned at the time that we'd put something in

        40       writing and it wasn't then ready, and there it is.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   With great respect, paragraph 17 does

        43       not seem to me to follow from paragraph 16 or, indeed,

        44       anything that precedes it.  In any event --

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   Well, we submitted this morning that it did.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you find any authority, you might

         2       let me know.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   Of course we will.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Stewart, there's only one thing I

         7       want to say, and it touches upon this question of legal

         8       professional privilege.  There's been much debate of it

         9       since this inquiry began, as you know, and your counsel has

        10       quite rightly said it is a decision for the board and you

        11       to take whether they wish to claim the professional

        12       privilege.  I have made it entirely clear, I hope, that if

        13       that claim is made, as it is, it will be respected to the

        14       fullest extent.  I've also made clear I think my view that

        15       I'm very concerned about not the legality of taking it or

        16       the entitlement to take it, but the wisdom of taking it.  I

        17       would just like to be satisfied from you that you and the

        18       board have considered that issue from a corporate

        19       governance point of view.  I won't say any more than that,

        20       unless I'm invited to do so.  It does seem to me to have a

        21       very significant or may have a very significant consequence

        22       in that area.

        23

        24            Is there anything further today?

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   No, nothing.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will adjourn until 10am.

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, before you rise, sir, you've asked

        31       that we consider the issue of the brief to Sir Anthony

        32       Mason, and we would do so.  I don't know what the outcome

        33       will be of that at this stage, but if a decision is made

        34       that the brief is to be produced, it may be that it won't

        35       be here tomorrow.

        36

        37            We don't want to hold the proceedings up

        38       unnecessarily.  In those circumstances, it may be necessary

        39       for Mr Stewart to return at some other time if there's an

        40       issue to be addressed, or it may be one that's

        41       self-fulfilling, in the sense that if a decision is made to

        42       produce it, it's self-evident and doesn't require any

        43       comment, as it were, by a person who's not familiar with

        44       it.

        45

        46            I raise that only because if there is any delay and

        47       the decision is one to produce it, I don't want to see it
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         1       holding up Mr Stewart's evidence, because he has assumed an

         2       executive role in a context which is very difficult.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   He's very busy I'm sure.  I understand

         5       that.  I'll adjourn until 10am tomorrow.

         6

         7       AT 4.48PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED

         8       TO TUESDAY, 7 MARCH 2006 AT 10AM

         9
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